

Non-isolated Microgrid Business Models for Low Voltage Applications: A Case Study in Southern Brazil

by Aslihan Mülazimoglu 00108483

Technische Hochschule Ingolstadt

Master's Thesis in Renewable Energy Systems at the Faculty of Mechanical Engineering

> <u>Examiners</u> Prof. Dr.-Ing. Daniel Navarro Gevers Prof. Dr.-Ing. Tobias Schrag

<u>External Supervisor</u> Prof. Dr. Alexandre Rasi Aoki

Issued on: 11 April 2023 Submitted on: 26 April 2023

Declaration of Independence

I hereby declare that this thesis is my own work, that I have not presented it elsewhere for examination purposes and that I have not used any sources or aids other than those stated. I have marked verbatim and indirect quatations as such.

Ingolstadt, 26.04.2023

Place, date

Signature

Abstract

Power systems globally are undergoing a significant transformation driven by the need to transition from fossil fuel-based systems to low-carbon and renewable energy sources. Increasing distribution energy resources penetration has led to the development of local generation and consumption ideas and, consequently, the emergence of the microgrid concept. However, the displacement of traditional power plants by distributed energy resources, especially in low voltage grids, poses new challenges for distribution grids' operation, such as voltage control. The reactive power support capability of distributed energy resources, one of the microgrid components, makes them a potentially useful source for voltage issues. However, this support should be allowed within the framework permitted by regulations.

Although the Brazilian power system is mainly based on renewable energy sources, Brazilian legislation does not support the potential service capability of distributed energy resources. Moreover, the absence of an ancillary services market and the non-remuneration of ancillary services are the main reasons for distributed energy resources and microgrids not participating in such services.

This thesis proposes developing two business models for a non-isolated microgrid in Brazil, one that considers regulations and one that can be described as innovative by not considering regulations. The business model has been developed with a reactive energy compensation approach in which PV inverters are used. Furthermore, two different remuneration mechanisms have been proposed for the innovative business model. The microgrid where the developed business models are implemented is modelled and simulated in Open Distribution System Simulator with IEEE 13-node test feeder. Since the simulated microgrid does not have any voltage issues, sensitivity analysis is performed to be able to provide more accurate results. The sensitivity analysis results show that the proposed remuneration mechanism can motivate the microgrid to provide ancillary services, resulting in a profit for the microgrid and mitigating voltage problems of the distribution grid.

Keywords: non-isolated microgrid, voltage control, distribution grid, renewable energy, distributed energy resources, business model, sensitivity analysis, OpenDSS, simulation

Acknowledgement

First and foremost, I would like to take this opportunity to express my gratitude to my thesis supervisor, Prof.Dr.-Ing Daniel Navarro Gevers, for their support, guidance, and patience throughout the entire process of completing this master's thesis and the master's program.

I would also like to sincerely thank my external supervisor Prof. Dr. Alexandre Rasi Aoki, for his guidance throughout the whole process.

I am indebted to my family and friends, whose emotional support and unconditional love have been my source of strength and motivation throughout this challenging journey.

> Aslihan Mülazimoglu Ingolstadt, April 2023

Table of Contents

Li	stof	Figur	ves v	i
Li	st of	Table	esvi	i
Li	st of .	Abbr	eviationsvii	i
1	Intr	oduc	tion1	1
2	Tec	hnica	al Background	1
	2.1	Trac	ditional Electrical Power Grid	1
	2.2	Mic	rogrid Technology	5
	2.2	.1	Components of microgrid	5
	2.2	.2	Operation modes of microgrid	3
	2.2	.3	Types of microgrid	3
	2.2	.4	Impacts of microgrid)
	2.3	Anc	illary Service)
	2.4	Rea	ctive Power11	1
	2.4	.1	Reactive power sources in distribution grids	1
	2.4	.2	Remuneration structures and price types for reactive power	3
	2.5	Bus	iness Model Canvas14	1
3	Bra	ziliar	n Electricity Market and Regulations17	7
4	Dev	velop	ment of the Business Models	1
5	Cas	e Stu	ıdy23	3
	5.1	Bar	igui Park Microgrid23	3
	5.2	Sim	ulation25	5
	5.2	.1	Developed business model by considering regulations' simulation	7
	5.2	.2	Developed business model by not considering regulations' simulation 33	3
	5.2	.3	Sensitivity analysis	5
6	Cor	nclus	ion and Future Work4	1
Re	eferer	ices		3

Appendix A: Simulation Results of Microgrid	. 52
Appendix B: Simulation Results for Sensitivity Analysis(Case: 7xMicrogrid)	. 54

List of Figures

Figure 1.1:Global renewable energy consumption 2000-2021	1
Figure 2.1:Stages of traditional power systems	4
Figure 2.2:Typical microgrid structure	5
Figure 2.3: Energy storage technologies used in power systems	7
Figure 2.4: AC microgrid(a), DC microgrid(b), and hybrid microgrid structure(c), .	9
Figure 2.5:Volt-VAr curve	12
Figure 2.6: Business model canvas categories	14
Figure 3.1:Simplified structure of the Brazilian electricity market	
Figure 5.1: Curitiba Municipal Institute of Public Administration	23
Figure 5.2: Weather-related data for Curitiba on a weekday and weekend	24
Figure 5.3: Microgrid load profiles on a weekday and weekend	24
Figure 5.4: Simplified representation of Barigui Park	25
Figure 5.5: Data set used in the simulation	
Figure 5.6:Modified IEEE 13-node test feeder	
Figure 5.7: Weekday voltage profile of microgrid node	27
Figure 5.8: PV production on the weekday	
Figure 5.9: PV system reactive power values on the weekday	
Figure 5.10:Stored energy, output kW, and states of the BESS on the weekday	
Figure 5.11:PCC energy flow on the weekday	
Figure 5.12: PV production at the weekend	
Figure 5.13: Reactive power values of the PV system on the weekend	
Figure 5.14: Stored energy, output kW, and states of the BESS on the weekend	
Figure 5.15:PCC energy flow on the weekend	
Figure 5.16:Volt-VAr curve for the simulation	
Figure 5.17:Voltage profile of microgrid node (Case:5xmicrogrid)	
Figure 5.18:Simulation results of sensitivity analysis (case:10xmicrogrid)	
Figure 5.19: Simulation results of sensitivity analysis (case:7xmicrogrid)	
Figure 5.20: PCC energy flow of sensitivity analysis (Case: 7xmicrogrid)	

List of Tables

Table 2.1: Mentioned guidelines and their scope 6
Table 2.2: Common DG sources and their properties 7
Table 3.1: Electricity consumer categories
Table 3.2: AS consumer's electricity tariff
Table 4.1: Established business model by considering Brazilian regulations (First BM). 21
Table 4.2:Developed business model canvas by not considering Brazilian regulations
(Second BM)
Table 5.1: Energy flow results of the microgrid simulation (First BM)
Table 5.2: The Volt-var mode controller request to PV System
Table 5.3: Energy flow results of the microgrid simulation (Second BM)
Table 5.4: Energy flow results of the sensitivity analysis (Case:7xmicrogrid)

List of Abbreviations

Alternating Current
Free Contracting Environment
Regulated Contract Environment
Brazilian Electricity Regulatory Agency
Ancillary Service
Battery Energy Storage Systems
Business Model
Business Use Case
The Chamber of Electricity Commercialization
Consortium for Electricity Reliability Technology Solutions
Direct Current
Distributed Energy Resource
Distribution Flexible AC Transmission System
Distributed Generation
Distributed Renewable Energy Resource
Distribution System Operator
Distribution Static Synchronous Compensator
Distribution Static Var Compensator
Energy Storage Systems
Greenhouse Gas Emission
High Voltage Alternative Current
High Voltage Direct Current
Information and Communication Technologies Infrastructure
International Electrotechnical Commission
Load Tap Changer
National System Operator
Open Distribution System Simulator
Point of Common Coupling
Procedures of Electric Energy Distribution in the National Electric System
Program to Stimulate Alternative Electricity Sources
Photovoltaic
Renewable Energy Source
Synchronous Generator
National Interconnected System
State of Charge
Energy Tariff
Technical Report
Technical Specification
Use of Distribution System Tariff

1 Introduction

The increasing population day by day in the world exceeds 8 billion today, and technology and industrial development bring the need for energy [1, 2]. Although there are resources to meet this need in the world, the resources are limited and running out; thus, using these fossil-based resources leads to various problems and doubts [3]. The use of renewable energy is acknowledged as a solution for meeting energy demand and combating global warming and has become a common practice in countries worldwide [3, 4]. Figure 1.1 shows the global primary renewable energy consumption between 2000 and 2021.



Global Renewable Energy Consumption

Figure 1.1:Global renewable energy consumption 2000-2021 (own illustration based on [5])

In addition to this, power systems are changing and evolving by targeting especially decarbonization, decentralization and digitalization [6]. Today, large-scale conventional power plants at high voltage levels have been replaced by distributed energy resources at lower voltage levels, leading to new concepts such as microgrids [7]. International Electrotechnical Commission (IEC) Technical Specification (TS) 62898:1-2017 refers to a microgrid as an aggregation of distributed energy resources that are capable of operation both grid-connected and off-grid [8, 9]. There are various global microgrid applications for different purposes as specified in IEC TS 62898-1:2017 [8] business use cases (BUC), and these can be listed as follows:

- Security of energy supply (BUC A): This business use case proposes to supply

critical loads during blackouts and provide uninterrupted electricity for microgrid customers [8]. For instance, the Thacher School microgrid project with 1 MW capacity aims to secure the energy supply by switching the microgrid to an island operation mode in case of grid outages and making electricity uninterrupted [10].

- Service to microgrid customers with local resources (BUC B): This business use case aims to generate profit for the microgrid through energy storage and grid services [8]. To give an example, General Motors E-Motor Factory microgrid project reduces the cost for the microgrid with energy storage systems while having revenue by providing ancillary services with the bi-directional inverter [10].
- Providing electricity to remote areas (BUC C): This use case has been developed to supply energy to isolated areas that cannot be supplied from the main grid [8]. In particular, Gaidouromantra microgrid, an isolated microgrid, was designed to provide electrical energy to 12 vacation houses in one of the Greek islands [11].
- Power supply after disasters with local resources (BUC D): This use case aims to extend the black-start ability of the electric power systems with local resources after blackouts[8]. Sendai microgrid is an application in Japan for a disaster-preparedness objective and illustrates this point clearly. After the devastating earthquake in Japan in 2011, the main grid was unavailable for days, and the backup generators and Sendai microgrid were able to energize [12].

Safe, reliable, high-quality power flow is crucial for electrical power systems, and the processes performed to ensure that flow is called ancillary services (AS) [7]. Traditionally, large-scale conventional power plants based on synchronous generators (SG) have been responsible for secure operation, and these are remunerated through various mechanisms by transmission system operators (TSO) or the corresponding AS market [13].

However, the displacement of bulk generation from large SGs to distributed energy resources (DERs) at lower voltage levels compromises the security of the power system. In many countries, especially at the distribution level, ancillary services are considered supporting services, and it is a requirement to connect distributed renewable energy sources (DRES) to the grid. In other words, these services do not generate revenue for DERs [14]. A remuneration mechanism for DERs that can provide these services could encourage systems to provide ancillary services.

This study aims to develop business models for non-isolated low-voltage microgrids to reduce the energy costs of microgrid users and provide ancillary services according to IEC TS 62898-1:2017 BUC B. In addition, it also focuses on identifying the necessary changes to achieve this goal and then analyzes the proposed model through a case study.

In this study Chapter 2 contains a comprehensive review of the technical background, including the traditional power grid, microgrid technology, ancillary service, and reactive power. Mentioning the business model canvas leads to Chapter 3, which provides information about the Brazilian electricity market and regulations. Chapter 4 describes the developed business models, and to analyze the proposed model, the Barigui Park project is simulated in Open Distribution System Simulator (OpenDSS) as a case study in Chapter 5. The study is finalized with a conclusion and provides an overview of the work that can be done in the future in Chapter 6.

2 Technical Background

In this chapter, traditional electric power grids are discussed first. Then microgrid technology is described, including its components, operation modes, types and impacts. In the following section, ancillary services and reactive power are presented. The chapter is finalized by describing the business model canvas.

2.1 Traditional Electrical Power Grid

Traditional power systems consist of generation, transmission, and distribution stages. First, electricity is produced through large conventional power plants, most commonly from synchronous generators. Then, the produced energy is transmitted to the distribution grid via a transmission system, either high voltage direct current (HVDC) or high voltage alternating current (HVAC), but mostly HVAC. Transmission can be done through overhead, underground, and underwater lines [15]. Lastly, the transmitted electrical energy is distributed to the end users in the distribution stage. These power systems are centralized, and power flow is hierarchical, from production to end users, to consumers. Figure 2.1 represents the stages of traditional power systems.



Figure 2.1:Stages of traditional power systems (own illustration based on [16])

Reliable operation in power systems requires managing voltage and frequency within the predefined limit. It is called power system stability and can be defined as all generators in the power system having the same frequency and voltage angle differences. Synchronous generators are primarily responsible for the safety and continuity of the grid as well as the stability of traditional power grids [15, 17, 18]. However, traditional power systems in several countries, mainly predominantly reliant on fossil-based power plants, encounter significant environmental challenges. While the integration of renewable energy sources (RESs) in the grid reduces environmental problems, displacing fossil-based generations by distributed energy resources at lower voltage levels, and the constantly increasing energy demand disrupt the

supply and demand balance. Consequently, voltage and frequency issues occur in the traditional power system, leading to the evolution of the entire power system [19, 20].

2.2 Microgrid Technology

There has been considerable interest in microgrids due to their potential for enhancing power supply reliability and energy security, along with their economic benefits and the capability of clean energy integration [21, 22].

Fundamentally, a microgrid has a structure similar to the traditional grid and consists of generation, distribution, and load zones. Figure 2.2 shows the typical structure of microgrids. The generation part of a microgrid mainly comprises distributed energy sources, including photovoltaic (PV) systems, fuel cell systems, and wind power plants. Microgrids can operate as a part of the main grid, have switches to disconnect from the main grid when required, and can supply power to the islanded area independently. They can also provide energy to the main grid in cases where microgrid resources have surplus energy [23].



Figure 2.2: Typical microgrid structure (own illustration based on [8])

Despite their structural similarity, microgrids differ from traditional power grids in many aspects, including size, operation, and technology. These main differences can be listed as follows [24]:

- Traditional power grids are large-scale networks with large generators serving large areas, while microgrids are smaller-scale systems with small-capacity resources serving localized areas.
- Traditional power grids are typically centralized systems, while microgrids are decentralized systems installed close to loads.

- Due to their localized nature, microgrids are more reliable and resilient than traditional power grids. During an outage, microgrids are better able to continue providing power to local loads.
- Microgrids differ from traditional power grids as they allow bidirectional power flow; they can receive electricity from the main grid and supply electricity to the grid.

Since the microgrid concept has been introduced, several standards, technical specifications and technical reports have been developed related to the concept. Furthermore, there are numerous standards, technical specifications and reports for distributed energy sources, which are the typical generation sources of microgrids [25]. The developed international specifications and reports include IEC TS 62898-1:2017, IEC TS 62898-2:2018, IEC TS 62898-3-1:2020 and IEC-TR 62898-4:2023, and Table 2.1 summarizes the scope of mentioned guidelines.

Table 2.1: Mentioned guidelines and their scope (own illustration based on [8, 9, 26, 27])

Guideline	Title	Scope
IEC TS 62898-1:2017	Microgrids - Part 1: Guidelines for microgrid projects planning and specification	Guidelines for planning and specification of LV and MV AC microgrid projects, including generation and load prediction, control and communication systems, connection to the distribution system
IEC TS 62898-2:2018	Microgrids - Part 2: Guidelines for operation	Guidelines for the operation of LV and MV AC microgrids, including operation modes, anti- islanding, maintenance
IEC TS 62898-3-1:2020	Microgrids - Part 3-1: Technical requirements -Protection and dynamic control	Guidelines for fault protection and dynamic control of isolated and non-isolated AC microgrids
IEC-TR 62898-4:2023	Microgrids - Part 4: Use cases	Microgrid high-level use cases as "decentralized energy system" covering the typical application of microgrids based on IEC 62913-1

2.2.1 Components of microgrid

Components of the microgrid can be sorted as follows: Distributed generation (DG) units, energy storage systems (ESS), loads, and control systems. Typical specifications of those DGs are presented in Table 2.2.

	Solar	Wind	Micro hydro	Diesel	СНР
Availability	Geographical location dependent	Geographical location dependent	Geographical location dependent Any time		Dependent on source
Output power	DC	AC	AC	AC	AC
GHG emission	None	None	None	High	Dependent on source
Typical interface	Power electronic converter	Power electronic converter	Synchronous or induction generator	None	Synchronous generator

Table 2.2:	Common DG sources and their properties	
	(own illustration based on [28])	

A distributed generation unit is a small-scale power source that is located close to the consumption area, unlike typical centralized power generation, where massive power plants are far from the end consumers. PV, wind turbines, fuel cells, micro-turbines, and small-scale hydropower generators are the most common technologies used in distributed generation systems [28]. In addition to better energy efficiency and improved power quality and reliability, DGs can also reduce transmission and distribution losses. Also, they can contribute to lower reliance on centralized power plants and offer a more flexible and reliable power system [29].

ESSs play an essential role in microgrid systems by balancing the electricity supply and load demand [30]. They can be considered a backup power source during power outages, guaranteeing the uninterrupted operation of essential facilities and services. Furthermore, ESSs can minimize the total energy expenses of microgrid systems by retaining extra energy when demand is low and dispensing it during high-demand periods [31]. Battery energy storage systems (BESS), thermal, pumped hydro, and flywheel energy storage systems are some energy storage technologies used in microgrids [32]. Figure 2.3 illustrates the energy storage technologies used in power systems.



Figure 2.3: Energy storage technologies used in power systems (own illustration based on [32])

The energy storage technology used in microgrids depends on specific grid needs, including storage duration, response time, cycle capacity, discharge time, and available resources [32]. Lower cost and energy density make electrochemical storage one of the preferred storage technologies for microgrids [31, 33].

Microgrid loads are various energy-consuming parts of the microgrid, which can be categorized concerning their importance or types [34]. According to their types, the microgrid loads can be classified as industrial, commercial or residential. Concerning their importance, they are considered critical or non-critical [34, 35].

The control system is a crucial electronic component for the effective operation of a microgrid. Its essential function is to optimize the operation of the system by utilizing data from different sources. Specifically, the unit ensures that the microgrid operates within predetermined voltage and frequency limits. Moreover, the control system monitors regularly for safe and reliable microgrid operation [36].

2.2.2 Operation modes of microgrid

The microgrids have two operating modes based on their connection to the main grid. The microgrid that operates in non-isolated mode can be considered a controllable entity from the main grid point of view as it is connected to the external grid with a switch. The non-isolated mode consists of grid-connected and islanded modes. During the grid-connected mode, the power flow is from the main grid to the microgrid through the point of common coupling (PCC) or vice versa [8, 37]. Secondly, in islanded mode operation, the microgrid is unlinked from the main grid at PCC. In this operation mode, the microgrid operates independently from the main grid; hence it is responsible for the balance between its generation and consumption. Supplying critical loads from its own generation and energy storage sources is one of the most important concerns for this operation mode. In other words, load shedding becomes a crucial aspect of the islanding operation [3].

In isolated operation mode, the microgrid is continuously operated off-grid. In contrast to the non-isolated mode, the microgrid is responsible for its frequency, voltage regulation, and power balance since there is no main grid contribution [35]. The isolated microgrids are not elaborated in the thesis' scope.

2.2.3 Types of microgrid

Depending on their connection to the common bus, microgrids consist of alternating current (AC), direct current (DC), and hybrid microgrids [34]. Their structures are shown in Figure 2.4.



Figure 2.4: AC microgrid(a), DC microgrid(b), and hybrid microgrid structure(c), (own illustration based on [38])

In AC microgrids, DERs are coupled to the common bus via power electronic interfaces, while loads are linked simply to the common bus [3]. AC microgrids are the most widely implemented type of microgrid, and their resemblance to traditional power systems is one of their most essential advantages [34].

In DC microgrid architecture, all the microgrid components are coupled to the DC busbar, whereas the microgrid is linked to the AC grid at the PCC via a bi-direction converter [39]. DC microgrids have a comparably simple structure and lower losses as they have less energy conversion, and these are among the prominent advantages of DC microgrids [3].

The hybrid microgrid architecture is formed by utilizing the strengths of the other two types[38]. It is composed of DC and AC networks connected to the grid. The loads and DERs are linked to the respective bus, either in AC or DC, considering the minimization of energy conversion [34].

2.2.4 Impacts of microgrid

The microgrid concept offers environmental, economic, and technical advantages. In this context, according to [3, 15, 24, 36], the benefits of the microgrid can be listed as follows:

Environmental benefits: While traditional power utilities are fossil-based, microgrids have a minor negative impact on the environment since they are based on either renewable energy or low-emission fuels. Therefore, greenhouse gas emissions (GHG) and global temperature rise can be reduced.

Economic benefits: Using renewable energy is not only an environmental benefit but also

an economic benefit as it reduces energy costs through local production. Using own resources during peak times also reduces energy costs for microgrids. In addition, selling energy to other consumers, where possible under regulations, is another economic benefit.

Technical benefits: Since the location of microgrids and their sources are close to loads, there are shorter energy flows, and being close to loads reduces transmission and distribution losses. In addition, the possibility of the microgrid disconnecting from the main grid in case of any outages ensures continuous electricity provision for critical loads. The capability of providing ancillary services to the grid through distributed energy resources can be considered another technical advantage of microgrids.

2.3 Ancillary Service

The term "ancillary service" in the power system is described as the additional service, other than electricity generation, required for a stable and reliable electric power system [40]. These services can be evaluated under frequency response, black-start capability and voltage control through reactive power support [13].

Frequency is a characteristic related to active power, and it must be stabilized within a specific range for the proper operation of an AC power system. The frequency is maintained by matching the supplied active power to the loads in real-time [41]. Any disturbance between generation and consumption causes an increase or decrease in frequency and must be adjusted immediately to avoid instability and possible power outages [42]. Frequency control as an ancillary service comprises of maintaining the frequency at the nominal operating level [14]. Frequency-related ancillary services are additionally divided into frequency restoration, containment, and replacement reserves [13]. However, it is not investigated further in this study.

Black-start capability as an ancillary service is another critical component for the reliability of the power systems. It can be defined as the restart of a power grid experiencing a complete or partial blackout, and this service is provided by specified generators called black-start units. The power plants will be able to operate with the help of the black start units, and the power system will be restored [14]. In the scope of the thesis, the black-start capability will not be elaborated further in the study.

Voltage is a characteristic related to reactive power. It must be maintained within a specific range to ensure the proper operation of all equipments in the power system without any damage and a stable and reliable supply of electricity [14]. The most significant effect causing voltage instability in the power system is the lack of required reactive power [43]. For particular types

of loads, the consumption of active and reactive power is observed simultaneously, and increased reactive power demand of the loads causes a voltage drop at the bus. Therefore, the lines consume more reactive power and again cause voltage drops and voltage instability in the power system [43, 44]. Furthermore, the high integration of electric vehicles leads to an overload and, consequently, a voltage drop. Besides, high penetration of DER causes some voltage-related issues. For instance, high PV integration causes voltage rise, especially on long low-voltage feeders, due to its high resistivity characteristic. DERs may supply energy to the main grid, causing reserve power flow. Reserve power flow increases the voltage; this makes the operation of traditional voltage control sources more complicated. Additionally, RESs can cause voltage fluctuations due to their dependence on weather conditions for a generation [45–48]. Voltage control is an ancillary service to ensure that the voltage level in the power system remains within the required limits by supplying or consuming reactive power.

2.4 Reactive Power

Although reactive power does not correspond to actual energy consumption or supply, unlike active power, it significantly affects power systems. The reactive power flow in the power grid causes a phase difference between current and voltage. More specifically, the current fluctuates back and forth, resulting in a phase shift between the two waveforms. The increase of reactive power in the power system has a negative impact on the active power to be supplied as it leads to line losses in the grid [49, 50]. The impact of reactive power on a grid goes beyond line losses; it also significantly affects the system's voltage [49]. Reactive power injection to the system leads to a voltage rise in the grid voltage, while reactive power absorption results in a voltage drop [44]. Considering the effect of DERs on the voltage of the electric system, reactive power compensation becomes more critical.

2.4.1 Reactive power sources in distribution grids

Load Tap Changer: Although a load tap changer (LTC) is not a reactive power compensator, it can be combined with reactive power compensation technologies to regulate voltage. The LTC regulates the voltage by adjusting the ratio between the windings of a transformer with the taps. There are two types of LTCs, off-load and on-load, but since the transformers do not need to be disconnected, on-load tap changers are one of the most preferred sources in distribution power systems [51–53].

Distribution Static Var Compensator (D-SVC): A distribution static var compensator is one of the distribution flexible AC transmission system (D-FACTS) device that continuously

maintain the grid voltage at a set reference point [54]. SVCs can absorb and inject reactive power through the reactor and capacitors they comprise [55].

Distribution Static Synchronous Compensator (D-STATCOM): STATCOM is another FACTS device which compensates the reactive power. STATCOM, which has a fast reaction time, can absorb reactive power from the grid and inject it to the grid. These devices help to regulate the grid voltage by exchanging reactive power with the grid. The STATCOMs used in the distribution system are called D-STATCOMs [54, 56].

Capacitor Banks: Capacitor banks are another source that help to regulate voltage by supplying reactive power to the grid. These sources are typically located in distribution grids and can be of two types: fixed and switched [55].

Inverter-based DER: Although coupling DERs into the grid brings voltage issues, the inverter that they are connected to can inject and absorb reactive power. This ability may bring another solution for voltage issues of the distribution grid [57]. The inverters can solve voltage issues at PCC by reactive power control under various control techniques, including the function of injected active power, fixed power factor control, and voltage-dependent reactive power control (Volt-VAr). Since reactive power injection and absorption can be performed without active power generation, the Volt-VAr technique is considered in this study. In this technique, the inverter provides or consumes reactive power with respect to PCC voltage [58].



Figure 2.5:Volt-VAr curve (own illustration based on [58])

As seen in the Volt-VAr curve in Figure 2.5, when the voltage at PCC is between V2 and V3, in the predefined limits, the inverter does not provide or absorb any reactive power. On the

other hand, the inverter absorbs reactive power when overvoltage occurs. On the contrary, if undervoltage occurs, the inverter injects reactive power to increase the voltage at PCC.

2.4.2 Remuneration structures and price types for reactive power

As stated by [59], the pricing structure for reactive power comprises three fundamental elements: the cost component, service type, and the price settlement mechanism if it is remunerated.

The cost components of reactive power can be listed as follows:

- Cost of loss: The reactive power negatively impacts the active power by reducing the amount that could flow. The amount of the decrease in "real" power is related to the cost of loss.
- Switching costs: This component occurs due to the switching lifetime of mechanically switched sources.
- Lost opportunity cost: The source must reduce the active power for every injected or absorbed reactive power. Reduced active power negatively affects sources' revenue from providing active power to the grid.

Service types of reactive power may consist of the following:

- Fixed price: Reactive power products are remunerated regardless of demand and time.
- Availability price: Reactive power resources are remunerated for the product's availability and capacity, whether used or not.
- Utilization payment: Reactive power source is remunerated based on the amount of the used product.
- Utilization frequency price: The source is paid by the frequency of the delivered product.
- Compensation of lost opportunity cost: It is a repayment to a resource for potential revenue they have lost by providing reactive power.

Price settlement mechanisms for reactive power can be structured as follows:

- Regulated price: The price of the reactive power is set by regulators considering various factors, including the cost and demand of the product.
- Uniform price: All bids for the quantity of product needed are ranked from cheapest to most expensive, and the highest bid prices are paid to all sources.
- Area-wise uniform price: Uniform price mechanism is implemented separately for

each area.

- Nodal price: Separate pricing is provided for each node of the grid.
- Pay-as-bid: Unlike the uniform price, this mechanism pays resources by their bid.

2.5 Business Model Canvas

A business model (BM) is a strategy for a business that outlines how a firm creates value, generates revenues, manages costs and meets customer needs [60]. It helps business owners determine how to operate their business, how to serve customers, and what kind of profit-making plan to adopt [61]. The business model canvas is an illustration of the business model. It is a one-page strategic tool comprised of nine building blocks, which can be grouped under four main categories as shown in Figure 2.6 [61].



Figure 2.6: Business model canvas categories (own illustration based on [61])

In the book [60], although the customer segment is identified as one of the most critical blocks for business model development, concerning the study's aim, the value proposition can be considered as the most critical block of the canvas.

The Value Proposition clarifies the value a business offers to its customers and how it differentiates itself from competitors. Businesses' understanding of customer needs makes this block an essential canvas component [60].

Considering non-isolated microgrids, the value proposition of the business model canvas may include resilience, flexibility, energy security, local consumption promotion, energy security, cost savings for microgrid users, grid services, increased energy independence and carbon emission reduction with renewable energy resources [8].

The Customer Segments is another vital block in the business model canvas. This block represents the people or organizations from whom the business will generate revenue by

meeting their needs through the value proposition. The identification and comprehension of the customer segments allow businesses to meet the needs and preferences of their customers [60].

Although it may vary according to several factors such as location, in general, residential, commercial, and industrial customers, power distribution utilities and distribution system operators can take place in the customer segment for a non-isolated microgrid business model [61].

The Channels block represents how a business interacts with its customers [62]. As the Channels block can be considered a bridge between the Customer Segments and the Value Proposition block, it is placed between them.

Since it connects the microgrid to its customer, the local grid is one of the key channels of a non-isolated microgrid business model. Others can be sorted as information and communication technologies infrastructure (ICT), electricity and ancillary service markets.

The Relationship block focuses on how a business will provide value to and interact with customer segments.

This block may contain energy providers, equipment suppliers, regulators and microgrid customers for the non-isolated microgrid business model canvas.

The Revenue Stream comprises the various ways the company can have revenue by delivering value to its customer segments [62].

This block may include the sale of electricity, energy production, and consumption based on energy pricing and the provision of grid services for the non-isolated microgrid business model canvas.

Key Resources block denotes the essential elements a business needs to possess to generate and provide value to its customers [60].

The key resources can be electric vehicle charging stations, control and monitoring systems, photovoltaic panels, wind turbines and energy storage systems of a non-isolated microgrid.

The block *"Key Activities"* contains the operations or processes that the business provides to generate revenue from its customers [61].

The key activities of the non-isolated microgrid business model can include energy surplus, local generation, energy storage, islanding operation and ancillary service provision.

Key Partners building block stands for the strategic relationships the organization establishes to offer value to its customers. The partnerships help to optimize resource usage, and through partnerships, risks and costs of the activities may be lowered [60, 62].

In non-isolated microgrid business models, power distribution utilities, distribution system operators, government agencies, energy traders, electricity and ancillary service markets, and prosumers can be included in the key partners building block.

Cost Structure is the costs arising in a company operating with a business model. Osterwalder and Pigneur [60] emphasize that this building block is vital in increasing profitability by optimizing cost factors.

Capital and operating expenditures of microgrid, fuel costs- if the microgrid has a fossilbased backup power source, distribution cost, and electricity purchased from the supplier may be possible cost structure elements of a non-isolated microgrid.

3 Brazilian Electricity Market and Regulations

The Brazilian power system is one of the most extensive power systems in the world, with 656.1 TWh of annual electricity production as of 2021. The country's leading source of electricity is hydropower, with more than half of the total supply [63]. However, wind and solar power have been dramatically increasing and are expected to continue to increase their share of the country's electricity production in the coming years. To express it in numbers, solar photovoltaic production increased by 55.9% in 2021 compared to the previous year and reached 16.752 TWh. Likewise, wind power generation increased by 26.7% to 86.957 TWh [64].

The Brazilian transmission system, the National Interconnected System (SIN), is a countrywide interconnected grid with 179,311 km of high-voltage transmission lines by 2022 and meets 99% of the country's total demand [65]. The SIN's operation is coordinated and controlled by the National System Operator (ONS), and SIN comprises four regions: South, Southeast/Mid-West, North-East and North region [66]. Electricity distribution is operated by 105 distributors, 52 permissionary and 53 concessionaires. Fifty-one distributors are located in the south, 35 in the southeast/mid-west, 12 in the northeast and 7 in the north region [67].

In Brazil, several bodies are involved in the electricity sector. Brazilian Electricity Regulatory Agency (ANEEL) and The Chamber of Electricity Commercialization (CCEE) are the agencies in charge of the commercialization of electricity. ANEEL is the regulator of the electric energy market created by the Brazilian government. It supervises electric energy at every stage, from generation to commercialization. It also has the authorization to issue licenses for the generation, distribution and transmission of electricity to ensure that these activities comply with the legislation. In addition, it plays an essential role in establishing electricity tariffs [68]. Besides, CCEE manages the operation of the Brazilian electricity market. In this respect, it acts as a bridge for commercial activities between producers, distributors, and consumers. Its operations are monitored and supervised by ANEEL [69].

The Brazilian electricity market is divided into contract and energy reserve markets [70]. Figure 3.1 shows the simplified structure of the Brazilian contract market.



Figure 3.1:Simplified structure of the Brazilian electricity market (own illustration based on [71])

In the Regulated Contract Environment (ACR), utility companies, distributors and traders participate in auctions carried out by ANEEL [72]. In this contracting environment, consumers can not choose their suppliers; electricity is supplied by distribution companies that procure electricity through auctions [73].

In the Free Contracting Environment (ACL), the contract is executed through electric energy trading by generators, power marketers, large customers, and special-status customers. In this contracting environment, trades will be freely negotiated and governed by bilateral contracts for buying and selling energy in compliance with defined trading rules and procedures [74]. Decree 5.163/2004 and Law 9.074/1995 have defined the concepts of free consumers and special-status consumers. In this context, free consumers are defined as consumers having electricity loads equal to or greater than 3,000 kW, while special-status consumers are stated as free customers having a demand of 500 kW or higher who meet their energy use from microscale wind, biomass or solar-based sources [74, 75]. With Decree No. 465/2019, the entry limit to the free market has been gradually reduced to less than 500 kW by 1 January 2024; as of today, the entry limit is 500 kW [76].

Furthermore, the reserve energy market was introduced in 2008 to improve the security of supply of the interconnected system, which is one of the main objectives of the Brazilian electricity policy [70, 77]. The reserve energy is another auction-based structure in the country's electricity market, which has a similar process to ACR, with auctions organized at the government's request and managed by CCEE [70].

ANEEL also introduced the electricity compensation system, net metering, in Normative Resolution No. 482/2012 and expanded its scope in Normative Resolution No. 687/2015.

According to normative resolutions, renewable energy sources connected to the low- and medium-voltage grid are allowed to inject excess electricity into the main grid. The sold energy is defined as a credit that the consumer is able to use for up to 60 months [78].

The pricing structure for electricity consumers is regulated according to ANEEL Normative Resolution No. 1,000/2021 and Tariff Regulation Procedures [79]. Consumers are categorized into two main groups: Group A and Group B.

Group A consumers are those connected to 2.3 kV and higher voltages or have a voltage level lower than 2.3 kV and are supplied by underground cables. Group B consumers are those connected to a voltage level lower than 2.3 kV [80]. The sub-groups of consumer categories and their descriptions are represented in Table 3.1.

Group A	Group B
A1: Connected voltage level ≥ 230 kV	B1: Residential
A2: 88kV ≤ Connected voltage level ≤ 138 kV	B2: Rural
A3: Connected voltage level = 69 kV	B3: Other classes
A3a: 30 kV ≤ Connected voltage level ≤ 44 kV	B4: Public lighting
A4: 88kV ≤ Connected voltage level ≤ 138 kV	
AS: Connected voltage level ≤ 2.3 kV with the underground distribution system	

Table 3.1: Electricity consumer categories (own illustration based on [80])

The tariffs of both groups vary according to the hours that the distributor decides, except for certain days, including weekends and national holidays. Group A consumers are charged peak and off-peak tariffs, while Group B consumers are charged peak, intermediate, and off-peak tariffs [80]. Additionally, electricity price comprises energy price (TE) and use of distribution system (TUSD) price [81]. Based on this information, since this thesis focuses on Group A AS consumers, table 3.2 shows tariff prices for AS consumers.

Table 3.2: AS consumer's electricity tariff (own illustration based on [81])

	TE (R\$/kWh)	TUSD (R\$/kWh)
Off-peak tariff	0.3159	0.182
Peak tariff	0.49593	0.18256

The Brazilian electricity system, which relies heavily on hydroelectric power plants, is considered comparatively green. Despite being one of the world's most carbon-free sectors, Brazil has made significant progress in the last few decades in promoting renewable energy, distributed generation, and micro generation to reduce GHG emissions [82]. It has implemented

many laws and regulations to achieve this goal, and these significant regulations and changes can be listed as follows:

Law No 9,478/1997 defines the national energy policy of the country, which comprises promoting renewable energy, using alternative energy sources and protecting the environment [83].

Law No 10438/2002 establishes the Program to Stimulate Alternative Electricity Sources (PROINFA), aiming to reach 3300 MW of renewable energy capacity [84].

Normative Resolution No 482/2012 entered into force to define net metering for small PV, wind and biomass generators in addition to general rules for the interconnection of distributed micro and mini generation in the distribution system with the Brazilian technical standards [84].

Normative Resolution No 687/2015 revises Resolution No 482/2012, furthermore introducing distributed generation into the concept of micro and mini generation. This resolution provides technical specifications for connecting distributed generators to the grid.

Normative Resolution No 792/2017 introduces a demand response mechanism and defines the consumers who may take part in this program [85].

Normative Resolution No 956/2021 settles and standardizes technical procedures for operating electricity distribution systems through Procedures of Electric Energy Distribution in the National Electric System (PRODIST), composed of 11 modules [86].

The market structure in the Brazilian electricity sector has not been introduced concerning ancillary service. The provision of frequency control and voltage control required for the grid's reliability is determined by a regulation. Normative Resolution No 697/2015 sets the rules for primary frequency control, secondary frequency control, and reactive support must be provided without any remuneration, whenever requested by ONS, from all generating units that meet the minimum requirements defined in PRODIST [87].

4 Development of the Business Models

Concerning business model development in the energy sector, business models are associated with countries' sector-related legislation and legal regulations, including promoting renewable energy, using alternative energy resources and reducing carbon emissions. In addition to the laws regulating energy production, distribution and sales, there are also technical standards for the energy sector, such as licensing energy resources and its coupling to the main grid. Hence the legal framework should be considered while developing the business model. While regulations and standards ensure that the business operates under legal obligations, the business model evolved by considering these regulations is also crucial for the sustainability and success of the business.

According to IEC TS 62898-1:2017 BUC-B [8] and as discussed in Chapter 3, the established business model for a non-isolated low-voltage microgrid is presented in Table 4.1.

Key Partners	Key Activities	Value Proposition	Relationship	Customer Segments
-Power Distribution Utility	-Energy surplus -Local generation -Energy storage -Islanding operation Key Resources -PV	-Reducing the energy cost for microgrid users -Promoting local consumption -Grid services -Facilitating renewable energy integration	-Energy providers -Regulators Channels -Local grid	-Distribution power utility
	-DESS	ro	-IC I	avanua Straam
-Capital and -The -Elec	d operating expended distribution system stricity purchase from	-Electricity surplus		

Table 4.1: Established business model by considering Brazilian regulations (First BM)

The fundamental barrier to the developed business model is the lack of an ancillary service market in the Brazilian electricity market. Introducing such a market by regulators would make distribution system operators another element of customer segments. Consequently, the microgrid can provide ancillary services to offer its value propositions through the ancillary service market, making the system operator one of the key partners. Lastly, and most importantly, the microgrid generates revenues by providing ancillary services, precisely voltage control through reactive power provision.

If an ancillary service market had been introduced and DG participation in this market is regulated, the business model outlined in Table 4.1 could be evolved to the business model indicated in Table 4.2.

Key Partners	Key Activities	Value Proposition	Relationship	Customer Segments
-Power Distribution Utility -DSO	-Energy surplus Local generation -Energy storage -Islanding operation -Reactive power provision Key	-Reducing the energy cost for microgrid users -Promoting local consumption -Grid services -Facilitating renewable energy integration	-Energy providers -Regulators Channels	-Distribution power utility -Distribution system operator (DSO)
	-PV -BESS		-Local grid -AS market -ICT	Devenue Starow
-Capital and operating expenditure of microgrid			-Electricity surplus	
-Electr	icity purchase fro	om supplier	-i tovision of anemary service	

Table 4.2: Developed business model canvas by not considering Brazilian regulations (Second BM)

Considering all the information provided, two remuneration methods for the ancillary service market are proposed for the developed second business model. The first proposed remuneration method combines pay-as-bid and regulated prices. In this structure, to encourage providers to submit competitive bids, which can lead to lower prices for ancillary service products, pay-as-bid price settlement is used in areas where competition is likely to be high; there are many providers. A regulated price is proposed in sub-markets with fewer providers, and competition is infeasible. The second method proposes that the use of the distribution system tariff charged from consumers by distribution system operators should not be billed to consumers who help mitigate voltage issues by providing reactive power. In addition, compensation for the lost opportunity costs of the active power generation that they lose for reactive power compensation. Since the first proposed remuneration mechanism is the auction-based-payment method and analyzing this bidding process requires excessive information, including specifying the quantity of the product and each provider's bidding price, the second mechanism is analyzed with a case study.

5 Case Study

The preceding sections of this work have presented the developed non-isolated microgrid business models and have suggested schemes for supporting the grid through reactive power compensation from microgrids in the case of Brazil. This chapter focuses on simulating an existing microgrid system with a test feeder in OpenDSS.

5.1 Barigui Park Microgrid

The Barigui Park microgrid is a pilot project executed under the ANEEL PD-02866-0511/2019 research and development project, where self-generation with PV and BESS can meet the energy demand when the distribution grid is insufficient. The project was implemented at the Curitiba Municipal Institute of Public Administration, as shown in Figure 5.1 [88].



Figure 5.1: Curitiba Municipal Institute of Public Administration ([89])

Barigui Park is located in southern Brazil, more precisely in Curitiba, the capital of Paraná state. The park's exact location can be identified using geographic coordinates 25.427003° S and 49.307953° W.

There is typically more daylight during summer, and the weather is usually less cloudy than in other seasons. Thus, solar radiation is higher in summer. Conversely, daylight is less in winter; the weather is often more rainy and cloudy than in other seasons, resulting in less solar radiation. Based on this information and the National Institute of Meteorology data [90], the highest irradiation for Curitiba occurs in January and the lowest in July. Figure 5.2 illustrates the weather-related data for both January and July.

Case Study

Weather-related Data of Curitiba



Figure 5.2: Weather-related data for Curitiba on a weekday and weekend (own illustration based on [90])

As mentioned in the previous chapters, there are two different electricity prices for Group A consumers on weekdays: peak and off-peak. From this perspective, the weekday and weekend load profiles are shown in Figure 5.3.



Figure 5.3: Microgrid load profiles on a weekday and weekend (own illustration based on [91])

The microgrid consists of a PV system with a capacity of 32.64 kWp, including 96 PV panels of 340W each, a battery energy storage system composed of three units with a total capacity of 28.8 kWh and an input/output nominal power of 8.7 kW, and an electric vehicle charging station [92]. The simplified representation of the microgrid is illustrated in Figure 5.4.



Figure 5.4: Simplified representation of Barigui Park (own illustration based on [93])

5.2 Simulation

Simulation tools are widely used to analyze and enhance the performance of distribution grids. One of these simulation tools, OpenDSS, has been formed by the Electric Power Research Institute. OpenDSS offers various test systems, such as the IEEE 13-node test feeder, and allows users to create their test systems. Besides, OpenDSS has different simulation modes, including snapshot and time-series, among others [94]. The data sets required for the simulation are obtained by averaging the July and January weather-related data for weekdays and weekends. For both business models, the islanded operation of the microgrid during the weekday peak hours strategy is applied. However, it should be noted that the microgrid cannot supply all the loads during islanded operation. Therefore, 40% of the loads are categorized as critical and must always be supplied. Figure 5.5 presents the data set used in the simulation.

Case Study



Figure 5.5: Data set used in the simulation (based on [90, 91])

As seen in the microgrid one-line diagram (Figure 5.4), the microgrid has a total of 3 bus. Considering the complexity of the real distribution grid simulation, the microgrid is considered as a single bus and simulated in OpenDSS with a modified IEEE 13-node test feeder as shown in Figure 5.6.



Figure 5.6: Modified IEEE 13-node test feeder

An additional MG bus and line with a switch have been incorporated into the 634 bus of the test distribution grid. The PV system, BESS, and microgrid load are connected to this bus. Except for load 634, the remaining loads in the test feeder are linked to their respective buses.

5.2.1 Developed business model by considering regulations' simulation

In this scenario, the PV feeds in the grid in case the generated energy is not consumed by microgrid loads. The battery does not discharge in grid-connected mode to supply the critical loads in islanded mode. During peak tariff hours, between 18:00 and 21:00 on weekdays, the microgrid disconnects from the grid, and the battery inverter is responsible for the frequency and voltage regulation of the system. In other words, while the microgrid is in islanded mode, the BESS inverter will operate in grid-forming mode. The battery's state of charge (SOC) is assumed to be 20% in the initial state. An energy meter is installed in the bus MG to analyze the behaviour during the simulation period. Furthermore, a monitor is connected to the relevant DER for analyzing the DERs' behaviour.

The weekday daily mode simulation is carried out in three phases. In the first stage, the microgrid is coupled to the grid, and the simulation is run for 18 hours. In this phase, battery and PV inverters are set to the grid-following mode. Then, the microgrid is separated from the grid by a switch, and the battery inverter mode is changed to grid-forming mode. In the 21st hour, the microgrid is reconnected to the grid, and the inverter is set to the grid-following mode parallel to peak tariff time. The battery that supplies the microgrid during the peak hours is charged for the next islanding operation. Figure 5.7 shows the microgrid node's voltage profile on a weekday.



Figure 5.7: Weekday voltage profile of microgrid node

As observed in Figure 5.7, voltage values at the microgrid node are within the predetermined limit,0.92-1.05 p.u., including 11:00 and 16:00, when the load peaks. The PV generates between 08:00 and 16:00, with a maximum production of 30 kWh in the simulation's 13th hour, as shown in Figure 5.8.



Figure 5.8: PV production on the weekday

As stated before, the PV inverter is set to the grid-following mode; PV does not inject or absorb any reactive power; also PV inverter is on only during generation. When the PV inverter is on, negligible reactive power values are monitored, as shown in Figure 5.9 below. In the figure, negative values indicate power flow out of the PV system, while positives indicate power flow to the system.



Figure 5.9: PV system reactive power values on the weekday

In the battery stored energy graph Figure 5.10, at the initial state, the energy stored in the battery is 5.76 kWh. The battery is charged for the first four hours and reaches 100% at the end

of the fourth hour. The battery idles (state=0, kWh=28.8 kWh) until the microgrid switches to island operation, 18:00. In the battery states graph, -1 indicates that the battery is charging, while +1 indicates that the battery is discharging. As observed in the Output kW graph, the battery supplies the loads while the microgrid is in islanding operation. The battery output power is non-zero between 18:00-21:00. At 21:00, the stored energy in the battery is 2.88 kWh. The battery starts charging after the microgrid is reconnected to the main grid. In the 24th hour, the stored energy is 17.88 kWh.



Figure 5.10:Stored energy, output kW, and states of the BESS on the weekday

Negative values in the PCC energy flow graph in Figure 5.11 indicate that the microgrid absorbs energy from the grid, while positive values indicate that energy flow from the microgrid to the main grid. In line with the load profile, battery stored energy graph and PV generation graph, it is seen that energy is supplied from the grid in the first four hours to meet the load demand and charge the battery. Between 08:00-16:00, the PV generation from the grid could not supply the load and the remaining energy is absorbed from the grid. In the 13th hour of the simulation, PV generation is more than the load demand, so extra energy is supplied into the grid, and the energy flow is positive with 1.581 kWh. Also, as seen in the graph, during the peak tariff hours, 18:00-21:00, the microgrid switches to island operation, and no energy flow occurs. When the microgrid is reconnected to the grid, the grid charges the battery and supplies

the loads.



Figure 5.11:PCC energy flow on the weekday

As seen in the graph "Stored Energy" in Figure 5.10, by the end of the first-day battery is not fully charged; SOC is 62%. This value is considered for the rest of the weekday and weekend simulations.

On the other hand, since there is no different electricity tariff on weekends, the microgrid is connected to the main grid. The BESS stays in idling mode on weekends, with SOC 100%. The weekend daily mode simulation is carried out in one phase for 48 hours, and the SOC is set to 62% in the initial state.



Figure 5.12: PV production at the weekend

As seen in "PV production" graph in Figure 5.12, PV generates between 08:00-16:00, with a maximum production of 25 kWh between 13:00-14:00. In the PV reactive power ratings graph (Figure 5.13), negative values indicate power flow from grid to the system. In contrast, positive

values indicate power flow to the system. As stated, the PV inverter is set to the grid following mode; PV does not inject or absorb any reactive power. When the PV inverter fed into the grid, negligible reactive power values are monitored, as seen in below Figure 5.13.



Figure 5.13: Reactive power values of the PV system on the weekend

In the graph of battery states in Figure 5.14, -1 indicates that the battery is charging, while +1 indicates that the battery is discharging. As seen in "stored energy" graph, in the initial state, the stored energy is 17.88 kWh. The battery is charged for the first two hours and reaches 100% at the end of the second hour.



Figure 5.14: Stored energy, output kW, and states of the BESS on the weekend

Figure 5.15 shows the PCC energy flow; negative values indicate that the microgrid absorbs energy from the grid. In contrast, positive values indicate energy flows from the microgrid to the main grid.



Figure 5.15:PCC energy flow on the weekend

In line with the load profile, battery stored energy graph and PV generation graph, it is seen that supplied energy from the grid in the first four hours is for the loads and charging the battery. Between 08:00-16:00, the PV generation from the grid could not supply the load, and the remaining energy is absorbed from the grid. In the 14th hour of the simulation, PV generation is more than the demand, so excess energy is injected to the grid, and the energy flow is 5.149 kWh.

The weekly result is obtained after three simulations are done for Monday, Tuesday to Friday, and the weekend as seen in Table 5.1 (See Appendix A.1). It should be stated that negative values represent the energy flow from the grid to the microgrid.

	Active Energy (kWh)	Reactive Energy (kVArh)
Monday	-383.355	-394.958
Tuesday-Friday	-366.166	-394.957
Weekend	-601.523	-712.654

Table 5.1: Energy flow results of the microgrid simulation (First BM)

The weekly result is multiplied four times to get the monthly result. The amount of energy consumed by the microgrid from the grid per month is calculated as 9,798.165 kWh. Considering the simulation result and the previously mentioned electricity prices (Table 3.2), the monthly electricity bill of the microgrid is calculated as BRL 4,878.51.

5.2.2 Developed business model by not considering regulations' simulation

In this scenario, PV provides reactive power service to the grid with volt-var control in addition to feeding the grid. The volt-var function curve that the controller follows is shown in Figure 5.16.



Figure 5.16: Volt-VAr curve for the simulation

The battery does not discharge when the microgrid is connected to the grid to supply the critical loads in islanded mode. During peak tariff hours, between 18:00 and 21:00 on weekdays, the microgrid disconnects from the grid, and the battery inverter is responsible for the frequency and voltage regulation of the microgrid. In other words, while the microgrid is in islanded mode, the BESS inverter will operate in grid-forming mode. The battery's SOC is assumed to be 20% in the initial state. On the other hand, since there is no different electricity tariff on weekends, the microgrid is always connected to the main grid. The BESS stays in idling mode on weekends, with SOC 100%. An energy meter is installed in the "bus MG" to analyze the behaviour during the simulation period. Furthermore, a monitor is connected to the relevant DER for analyzing the DER's behaviour.

The daily mode simulation is carried out in three phases. In the first phase, the microgrid is connected to the grid, and the simulation is run for 18 hours. In this phase, the battery is set to grid-following mode, whereas the PV inverter controller is set to volt-var mode. Moreover, in this mode, the inverter can exchange the reactive power independently of PV generation.

Then, at 18:00, the microgrid is disconnected from the grid with a switch, the battery inverter mode is changed to grid-forming, and the PV inverter controller is disabled. At the 21st hour

of the simulation, in parallel with the peak tariff time, the operation mode of the microgrid is changed to the grid-connected, the battery inverter is set to grid-following mode, and the PV inverter controller is enabled. The battery that supplies the microgrid during the peak hours is charged for the next islanding operation. Since the PV production is the same, it is not shown for this simulation.

There is no significant change in the reactive and active energy flow values that can be shown in the graph; the controller requests are described in Table 5.1.

Hour	Requested PV System Output kVAr	Hour	Requested PV System Output kVAr
1	0.2	13	6.01E-05
2	0.006	14	5.11E-05
3	0.018	15	4.09E-05
4	0.0072	16	3.68E-05
5	0.00216	17	3.31E-05
6	8.64E-04	18	2.98E-05
7	4.32E-04	19	Disabled
8	2.59E-04	20	Disabled
9	1.68E-04	21	Disabled
10	1.18E-04	22	2.68E-05
11	9.43E-05	23	2.42E-05
12	7.08E-05	24	2.17E-05

Table 5.2: The Volt-var mode controller request to PV System

The voltage profile graph Figure 5.7 shows that the PV inverter absorbs negligible reactive power since the microgrid node voltage is within the predefined limit.

The BESS and energy flow behaviour is the same as in the first simulation (See Chapter 5.2.1); therefore, it is not described here again.

The monthly result is obtained as done for the simulation of the first business model implementation. Alternatively, in this model, there is no use of distribution system tariff on the customers providing service to the grid, and lost opportunity costs are compensated, as mentioned in Chapter 4. The amount of energy consumed by the microgrid from the grid per month is calculated as 9,798.174 kWh, as seen in Table 5.3 (See Appendix A.2).

	Active Energy (kWh)	Reactive Energy (kVArh)
Monday	-383.3560975	-395.249
Tuesday-Friday	-366.1672573	-395.266
Weekend	-601.5199438	-712.93

Table 5.3: Energy flow results of the microgrid simulation (Second BM)

Considering the simulation result and the previously mentioned electricity prices (Table 3.2), the monthly electricity bill of the microgrid is calculated as BRL 3,095.25.

5.2.3 Sensitivity analysis

After analyzing the two different business models and the proposed remuneration mechanism applied to the microgrid, it is observed that the microgrid benefits BRL 1,783.26 through the remuneration mechanism. However, the remuneration mechanism should not be considered an appropriate approach for a microgrid of this size due to the absence of voltage issues. The microgrid's profit source is the TUSD tariff, which is not paid even though the microgrid does not supply reactive power to the grid. In order to analyze proposed business models more accurately, the size of the microgrid is increased, and the mitigation effect of voltage problems by the microgrid is studied.

Figure 5.17 presents the voltage profile at the connected node when the size of the microgrid is increased by five times.

Hereinafter, the scaled-up microgrid is expressed with the help of numerical values. For instance, if the microgrid is expanded by a factor of five, it is stated as "5xmicrogrid".



Figure 5.17: Voltage profile of microgrid node (Case: 5xmicrogrid)

As seen in the figure above, the 5xmicrogrid voltage has not exceeded the limit throughout the day. However, it is observed that the node voltage decreases compared to the microgrid voltage (See Figure 5.7).

For further analysis, the size of the microgrid is expanded to ten times its original size. The voltage profiles of the 10xmicrogrid with the implementation of both business models are given in Figure 5.18. The left column of the figure illustrates the simulation results of the weekdays

by implementing both business models, showing the voltage profile without Volt-VAr during the weekday, the voltage profile with Volt-VAr control during the weekday, and the reactive power output of the PV inverter during the weekday, respectively. Moreover, the voltage profiles obtained by adapting both business models during the weekend, as well as the PV inverter reactive power output, are illustrated in the right column of the figure.



Figure 5.18:Simulation results of sensitivity analysis (case:10xmicrogrid)

When the first business model is applied, the voltage of the microgrid node exceeds the predetermined limit simultaneously throughout the weekday. From the "Voltage Profile without Volt-VAr Control-Weekday" graph, the effect of PV generation on the voltage rise is observed at 13:00. The voltage is within the predefined limit when PV production is at its maximum. Moreover, the graph shows that the voltage profile decreases its minimum value at 16:00 since the load is at its peak (for the load profile of the microgrid, See Figure 5.3).

On the other hand, the innovative business model implementation results in the "Voltage Profile with Volt-VAr control-Weekday" graph show that the voltage rises to the desired level

through the Volt-VAr control. When the voltage level drops below 0.92 p.u., the PV inverter injects reactive power to increase the voltage. Moreover, as the minimum voltage is observed at 16:00, the PV inverter delivers the highest power output during this period, which can be observed from the "Reactive Power Output of PV-Weekday" graph.

Besides, comparing weekday and weekend profiles, the reactive power injection is relatively small since there are fewer voltage fluctuations at the weekend.

The 10xmicrogrid simulation shows that the voltage at the node to which the microgrid is connected goes far beyond the predefined limits. The microgrid is scaled up to a value ranging from five to ten to evaluate a more detailed analysis. The simulation results of the 7xmicrogrid for the weekday and the weekend can be seen in Figure 5.19.



Figure 5.19: Simulation results of sensitivity analysis (case: 7xmicrogrid)

The left column of the figure illustrates the simulation results of the weekdays by implementing both business models, showing the voltage profile without Volt-VAr during the weekday, the voltage profile with Volt-VAr control during the weekday, and the reactive power

output of the PV inverter during the weekday, respectively. Moreover, the voltage profiles obtained by adapting both business models during the weekend, as well as the reactive power output of the PV inverter, can be seen from the right column of the figure.

It can be seen in "Voltage Profile without Volt-VAr Control-Weekday" in Figure 5.19 that when the first business model is applied, the voltage profile drops below the predetermined limit simultaneously throughout the weekday. Similar to the 10xmicrogrid analysis, the effect of PV generation on the voltage rise can be observed at 13:00. The voltage is within the predefined limit when PV production is at its maximum. Moreover, the figure shows that the voltage profile decreases its minimum value at 16:00 since the load is at its peak (for the load profile of the microgrid, See Figure 5.3). Since the load capacity is less than the previous sensitivity analysis, the voltage level is better, although it is outside the predefined limit. Likewise, since the generation capacity is less, the voltage level is lower than the previous analysis, even if it is in the time interval when the generation is highest.

The second business model implementation results in the "Voltage Profile with Volt-VAr Control-Weekday" show that the voltage reaches the desired level through the reactive power injected by the PV inverter to the grid. When the voltage level drops below 0.92 p.u., the PV inverter injects reactive power to increase the voltage. Moreover, as the minimum voltage is observed at 16:00, the PV inverter delivers the highest power output during this period, which can be observed from the "Reactive Power Output of PV-Weekday" graph.

The "Voltage Profile without Volt-VAr control-Weekend" graph shows that the voltage is minimum from 14:00 to 17:00. Besides, at 09:00, the V₃ value on the weekend is lower than on the weekday. In parallel, the reactive power injection is 2.342 kVAr higher for that hour on weekdays. Figure 5.20 below shows the developed business cases' PCC energy flow results from the weekday and the weekend simulation. The figure's left column depicts the effects of the Volt-VAr by illustrating the results of both implemented business models on the weekday, while the right column illustrates the same parameters for the weekend.

The positive impact of the volt-var control can be observed by comparing the weekday simulation graphs, as less reactive energy is absorbed from the grid with the volt-var control. For example, in the simulation with the first business model, whose result is shown in "Weekday Simulation without Volt-VAr control", 40 kVArh is absorbed from the grid in the first hour of the weekday. On the other hand, this value decreases to 30 kVArh due to the Volt-VAr control in the second business model's simulation, as illustrated with "Weekday Simulation with Volt-VAr control".

Case Study



Figure 5.20: PCC energy flow of sensitivity analysis (Case: 7xmicrogrid)

In the simulation without control illustrated by "Weekday Simulation without Volt-VAr control", 170 kVArh was absorbed from the grid, and this caused the voltage to drop. This value is 140 kVArh in the simulation with control, as shown in "Weekday Simulation with Volt-VAr control".

As previously discussed, the voltage level drops the most between 14:00-17:00. Figure 5.20 above clearly shows the reactive power compensation for this purpose by comparing the absorbed energy values of both weekend simulation graphs. Absorbed reactive energy values for the weekend are 174 kVArh in the first business model simulation, while in the second model, it is 139 kVArh.

The weekly result is obtained after three simulations on Monday, Tuesday to Friday, and the weekend for both business cases, as seen in Table 5.4 (See Appendix B). The negative values represent the energy flow from the grid to the microgrid.

		Active Energy (kWh)	Reactive Energy (kVArh)
Monday	First BM	-2451.698	-2627.277
	Second BM	-2467.671	-2477.917
Tuesday-Friday	First BM	-2330.478	-2626.484
	Second BM	-2347.757	-2464.771
Weekend	First BM	-4731.810	-5583.115
	Second BM	-4777.247	-5135.724

Table 5.4: Energy flow results of the sensitivity analysis (Case: 7xmicrogrid)

By comparing the absorbed active energy by the microgrid for both BM implementations, it is seen that the microgrid consumes 15.973kWh, 17.279kWh and 45.437kWh more energy on Monday, Tuesday-Friday and weekend, respectively, in the simulation where the second business model is implemented. On the other hand, in the simulation where the first business model is adopted, the microgrid consumes 149.360 kVArh, 161.713 kVArh and 447.391 kVArh more reactive energy.

Considering the simulation results and previously mentioned electricity prices (Table 3.2), the monthly electricity bill of the microgrid calculated by implementing the first business model is BRL 32,872.20. Additionally, the monthly electricity bill of the microgrid by implementing the second business model is calculated as BRL 20,979.95. The implication is that if the microgrid provides a service to control the grid's voltage, the profit of the microgrid provides ancillary services to the grid, it is charged only the energy tariff. The TUSD is not paid for the 66,543.783 kWh that the microgrid consumes per month, and the microgrid has made a profit of BRL 12,110.97. Secondly, for the reactive energy provision, 1243.60 kVArh, BRL 164.931 is compensated by the DSO, which is paid by the microgrid absorbing 522.1 kWh more energy from the grid.

6 Conclusion and Future Work

Increasing the penetration of distributed energy resources has led to the development of the idea of local production and local consumption and, accordingly, to the emergence of the microgrid concept. However, this situation brings additional problems, especially to distribution grids. For Brazil, the problem in the grids is mainly voltage issues and the diminishing of traditional power plants, which traditionally regulate voltage, requires finding alternative solutions. According to studied literature, it was found that in most countries, distributed energy resources connected to the low voltage level do not receive any remuneration even if they provide ancillary services to the grid. It is reviewed that ancillary service provision is mandatory for distributed energy resources and all generators connected to the grid in Brazil, where this thesis is focused.

This thesis aims to develop business models for non-isolated microgrids connected to low-voltage distribution systems considering IEC TS 62898-1:2017 BUC-B; and analyze the implemented business models in the microgrid.

In this respect, this thesis started with a comprehensive technical background. It has been demonstrated that microgrids, which have various technical, economic and environmental benefits, can also technically contribute ancillary services to the main grid, namely reactive power support, which is the focus of this thesis. After analyzing the Brazilian regulations related to distributed generation and microgrids as well as the electricity market structure, the lack of ancillary services market in the Brazilian electricity market has been observed. For Barigui Park in Curitiba, two business models have been developed with and without considering the country's regulations. Consequently, two remuneration mechanisms have been suggested for the innovative business model where regulations are not considered. The developed business models and the remuneration mechanism that does not require excessive data have been simulated in OpenDSS with a modified IEEE 13-node test feeder. The absence of any voltage issues in the distribution grid caused by the size of the microgrid leads to a sensitivity analysis. In the sensitivity analysis, the size of the microgrid is increased until the voltage issue occurs, and the contribution of the reactive power support remuneration mechanism proposed with the innovative business model applied to the microgrid is evaluated.

The sensitivity analysis simulation concluded that the microgrid's size should be increased by a factor of seven to for feasible implementation of the innovative business model. The reactive power provision capability of the microgrid is observed by comparing the two implemented business models. It has been found that the voltage drop problem in the grid has been solved by reactive power injection with the PV inverter of the microgrid. Accordingly, it is observed that the most considerable profit in the proposed remuneration mechanism of the microgrid is the TUSD tariff, which is charged by DSO.

Although the thesis presents reasonable outcomes for the developed business models, several additional studies could be done to improve and further analyze the work. Firstly, the aggregation and virtual power plant concepts can be considered while performing the study, and developing the business models. Also, this study only evaluates reactive power support with a PV inverter; other inverter-based distributed energy resources, including BESS technology, can also be included in this analysis. In addition, the simulation could give more realistic results with real distribution grid models. Therefore, the microgrid where the developed business models are implemented can be simulated with the modelled real distribution grid instead of a test feeder. Finally, the feasibility of the proposed remuneration mechanism, pay-as-bid and regulated price combination, which was not analyzed in this thesis, can be assessed if the required data are available.

References

- United Nations, World Population Prospects 2022: Summary of Results. Erscheinungsort nicht ermittelbar: United Nations, 2022. [Online]. Available: https://www.un-ilibrary.org/ content/books/9789210014380
- [2] J. Rodríguez-Molina, M. Martínez-Núñez, J.-F. Martínez, and W. Pérez-Aguiar, "Business Models in the Smart Grid: Challenges, Opportunities and Proposals for Prosumer Profitability," *Energies*, vol. 7, no. 9, pp. 6142–6171, 2014, doi: 10.3390/en7096142.
- [3] P. Ray and M. Biswal, *Microgrid: Operation, Control, Monitoring and Protection*. Singapore: Springer Singapore, 2020.
- [4] H. Yu, W. Luan, W. Sheng, H. Liu, and W. Ma, "Evaluation of the standardization needs of microgrids technology," in 2015 5th International Conference on Electric Utility Deregulation and Restructuring and Power Technologies (DRPT), Changsha, China, 2015, pp. 2144–2148.
- [5] Statista, Global primary energy consumption 2021 | Statista. [Online]. Available: https://www.statista.com/statistics/265598/consumption-of-primary-energy-worldwide/ (accessed: Feb. 22 2023).
- [6] Emil Hillberg, Antony Zegers & Barbara Herndler, Steven Wong, Jean Pompee & Jean-Yves Bourmaud, Sebastian Lehnhoff, Gianluigi Migliavacca, Kjetil Uhlen & Irina Oleinikova, Hjalmar Pihl, Markus Norström, Mattias Persson & Joni Rossi, Giovanni Beccuti, "Flexibility Needs in the Future Power System," Mar. 2019.
- [7] Stefan Mischinger, Hannes Seidl, Elie-Lukas Limbacher, Dr Sebastian Fasbender, Frederik Stalleicken, "dena Innovation Report Ancillary Services: Actual achievements and actions needed at present for stable operation of the electric power system up to 2030," Dec. 2018.
- [8] Microgrids: Guidelines for microgrid projects planning and specification, International Electrotechnical Commission, Geneva, Switzerland.
- [9] Microgrids: Guidelines for operation, International Electrotechnical Commission, Geneva, Switzerland.
- [10] Peter Asmus, Adam Forni, Laura Vogel, "Final Project Report, Microgrid Analysis and

Case Studies Report: California, North America, and Global Case Studies," 2018.

- [11] Stathis Tselepis, Ed., 12 Years Operation of the Gaidouromantra Microgrid in Kythnos island, COI-3869. Berlin, 2012.
- [12] Keiichi, Smart power and efficiency: 35th International Telecommunications Energy Conference, INTELEC 2013, 13-17 October 2013, Hamburg, Germany. Berlin: VDE-Verl., 2013.
- [13] C. S. Demoulias *et al.*, "Ancillary Services Offered by Distributed Renewable Energy Sources at the Distribution Grid Level: An Attempt at Proper Definition and Quantification," *Applied Sciences*, vol. 10, no. 20, p. 7106, 2020, doi: 10.3390/app10207106.
- [14] K. Oureilidis *et al.*, "Ancillary Services Market Design in Distribution Networks: Review and Identification of Barriers," *Energies*, vol. 13, no. 4, p. 917, 2020, doi: 10.3390/en13040917.
- [15] Shady S. Refaat, Omar Ellabban, Sertac Bayhan, Haitham Abu-Rub, Frede Blaabjerg, and and Miroslav M. Begovic, *Smart Grid and Enabling Technologies*. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley, 2021.
- [16] E. Tsampasis, D. Bargiotas, C. Elias, and L. Sarakis, "Communication challenges in Smart Grid," *MATEC Web of Conferences*, vol. 41, p. 1004, 2016, doi: 10.1051/matecconf/20164101004.
- [17] F. D. Jack Casazza, Understanding Electric Power Systems: An Overview of the Technology and the Marketplace. Canada: John Wiley & Sons, Inc, 2003.
- [18] Z. Xu, "Three Technical Challenges Faced by Power Systems in Transition," *Energies*, vol. 15, no. 12, p. 4473, 2022, doi: 10.3390/en15124473.
- [19] O. Mohammed, T. Youssef, M. H. Cintuglu, and A. Elsayed, "Design and simulation issues for secure power networks as resilient smart grid infrastructure," in *Smart Energy Grid Engineering*: Elsevier, 2017, pp. 245–342.
- [20] IEA, "Power systems in transition Challenges and opportunities ahead for electricity security," IEA, Paris, 2020.
- [21] H. Bevrani, F. Habibi, P. Babahajyani, M. Watanabe, and Y. Mitani, "Intelligent Frequency Control in an AC Microgrid: Online PSO-Based Fuzzy Tuning Approach," *IEEE Trans. Smart Grid*, vol. 3, no. 4, pp. 1935–1944, 2012, doi: 10.1109/TSG.2012.2196806.

- [22] A. Hirsch, Y. Parag, and J. Guerrero, "Microgrids: A review of technologies, key drivers, and outstanding issues," *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, vol. 90, pp. 402– 411, 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.rser.2018.03.040.
- [23] Serhat Berat EFE, "Mikro Şebekelerde Güç Akış Analizi," PhD. Thesis, Fen Bilimleri Enstitüsü, T.C. Firat Üniversitesi, Elazig, 2014.
- [24] H. H. Alhelou and G. Hayek, Eds., *Handbook of research on smart power system operation and control*. Hershey PA: IGI Global, 2019.
- [25] D. Rebollal, M. Carpintero-Rentería, D. Santos-Martín, and M. Chinchilla, "Microgrid and Distributed Energy Resources Standards and Guidelines Review: Grid Connection and Operation Technical Requirements," *Energies*, vol. 14, no. 3, p. 523, 2021, doi: 10.3390/en14030523.
- [26] Microgrids: Use cases, International Electrotechnical Commission, Geneva, Switzerland, 2023.
- [27] Microgrids: Part 3-1: Technical requirements Protection and dynamic control, International Electrotechnical Commission, Geneva, Switzerland, 2020.
- [28] L. Mariam, M. Basu, and M. F. Conlon, "A Review of Existing Microgrid Architectures," *Journal of Engineering*, vol. 2013, pp. 1–8, 2013, doi: 10.1155/2013/937614.
- [29] H. Kuang, S. Li, and Z. Wu, "Discussion on advantages and disadvantages of distributed generation connected to the grid," in 2011 International Conference on Electrical and Control Engineering, Yichang, China, 2011, pp. 170–173.
- [30] T. M. Masaud, K. Lee, and P. K. Sen, "An overview of energy storage technologies in electric power systems: What is the future?," in *North American Power Symposium 2010*, Arlington, TX, USA, 2010, pp. 1–6.
- [31] R. Georgious, R. Refaat, J. Garcia, and A. A. Daoud, "Review on Energy Storage Systems in Microgrids," *Electronics*, vol. 10, no. 17, p. 2134, 2021, doi: 10.3390/electronics10172134.
- [32] D. Q. Oliveira *et al.*, "A critical review of energy storage technologies for microgrids," *Energy Syst*, 2021, doi: 10.1007/s12667-021-00464-6.
- [33] IEA, Grid-Scale Storage Analysis IEA. [Online]. Available: https://www.iea.org/ reports/grid-scale-storage (accessed: Feb. 25 2023).
- [34] A. M. R. Lede, M. G. Molina, M. Martinez, and P. E. Mercado, "Microgrid architectures

for distributed generation: A brief review," in 2017 IEEE PES Innovative Smart Grid Technologies Conference - Latin America (ISGT Latin America), 2017, pp. 1–6.

- [35] G. Shahgholian, "A brief review on microgrids: Operation, applications, modeling, and control," *Int Trans Electr Energ Syst*, vol. 31, no. 6, 2021, doi: 10.1002/2050-7038.12885.
- [36] N. Hatziargyriou, *Microgrids: Architectures and control / edited by Nikos Hatziargyriou*. Chichester: Wiley, 2014.
- [37] Security-enriched urban computing and smart grid: First international conference, SUCOMS 2010, Daejeon, Korea, September 15-17, 2010. proceedings / Tai-hoon Kim, Adrian Stoica, Ruay-Shiung Chang, (eds.). Berlin: Springer, 2010. [Online]. Available: http://www.springer.com/gb/ BLDSS
- [38] I. Patrao, E. Figueres, G. Garcerá, and R. González-Medina, "Microgrid architectures for low voltage distributed generation," *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, vol. 43, pp. 415–424, 2015, doi: 10.1016/j.rser.2014.11.054.
- [39] Y. Xu, Z. Shi, J. Wang, and P. Hou, "Discussion on the Factors Affecting the Stability of Microgrid Based on Distributed Power Supply," *EPE*, vol. 05, no. 04, pp. 1344–1346, 2013, doi: 10.4236/epe.2013.54B254.
- [40] J. Ge, S. Luo, and C. Chen, "Research on ancillary service management mechanism in the smart grid," in 2011 IEEE Power Engineering and Automation Conference, Wuhan, China, 2011, pp. 429–432.
- [41] G. V. B. Kumar and K. Palanisamy, "A Review of Energy Storage Participation for Ancillary Services in a Microgrid Environment," *Inventions*, vol. 5, no. 4, p. 63, 2020, doi: 10.3390/inventions5040063.
- [42] Enes Yalcin, Ertugrul Cam, Tevfik Vardar, Murat Lüy, "PID Kontrolör ile Iki Bölgeli Güc Sistemlerinde Yük Frekans Kontrolünün Incelenmesi," *International Journal of Engineering Research and Development*, vol. 5, no. 2, 2013.
- [43] T. YEŞİLYURT and B. AKBAL, "Elektrik Tesislerinde Gerilim Kararlılığının Sağlanması için Kullanılan Yöntemler," *European Journal of Science and Technology*, 2020, doi: 10.31590/ejosat.804207.
- [44] J. von Appen, C. Marnay, M. Stadler, I. Momber, D. Klapp, and A. von Scheven,
 "Assessment of the economic potential of microgrids for reactive power supply," in 8th International Conference on Power Electronics - ECCE Asia, 2011, pp. 809–816.

- [45] H. Sun *et al.*, "Review of Challenges and Research Opportunities for Voltage Control in Smart Grids," *IEEE Trans. Power Syst.*, vol. 34, no. 4, pp. 2790–2801, 2019, doi: 10.1109/TPWRS.2019.2897948.
- [46] A. P. Kenneth and K. Folly, "Voltage Rise Issue with High Penetration of Grid Connected PV," *IFAC Proceedings Volumes*, vol. 47, no. 3, pp. 4959–4966, 2014, doi: 10.3182/20140824-6-ZA-1003.01989.
- [47] Makinde Kehinde A., "Voltage Rise Problem in Distribution Networks with Distributed Generation: A Review of Technologies, Impact and Mitigation Approaches,"
- [48] J. R. Aguero and S. J. Steffel, "Integration challenges of photovoltaic distributed generation on power distribution systems," in 2011 IEEE Power and Energy Society General Meeting, San Diego, CA, 2011, pp. 1–6.
- [49] Y. Tang, Voltage Stability Analysis of Power System, 1st ed. Singapore: Springer Singapore; Imprint Springer, 2021.
- [50] O. Gandhi, Reactive Power Support Using Photovoltaic Systems: Techno-Economic Analysis and Implementation Algorithms. Cham: Springer International Publishing AG, 2021. [Online]. Available: https://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/kxp/detail.action? docID=6386169
- [51] Sergi Cabré Ramos, "Optimization of the operation of a Distribution Network with Distributed Generation using Genetic Algorithm," Master's Thesis, d'Enginyeria en Energia, Universitat Politècnica de Catalunya · Barcelona Tech, Barcelona, 2014.
- [52] G. Putrus and E. Bentley, "Integration of distributed renewable energy systems into the smart grid," in *Electric Renewable Energy Systems*: Elsevier, 2016, pp. 487–518.
- [53] K.-H. Yoon, J.-W. Shin, T.-Y. Nam, J.-C. Kim, and W.-S. Moon, "Operation Method of On-Load Tap Changer on Main Transformer Considering Reverse Power Flow in Distribution System Connected with High Penetration on Photovoltaic System," *Energies*, vol. 15, no. 17, p. 6473, 2022, doi: 10.3390/en15176473.
- [54] F. O. Igbinovia, G. Fandi, J. Svec, Z. Muller, and J. Tlusty, "Comparative review of reactive power compensation technologies," in 2015 16th International Scientific Conference on Electric Power Engineering (EPE), Kouty nad Desnou, Czech Republic, 2015, pp. 2–7.
- [55] J. Dixon, L. Moran, J. Rodriguez, and R. Domke, "Reactive Power Compensation Technologies: State-of-the-Art Review," *Proc. IEEE*, vol. 93, no. 12, pp. 2144–2164,

2005, doi: 10.1109/JPROC.2005.859937.

- [56] Vinay M. Awasth and V. A. Huchche, 2016 International Conference on Energy Efficient Technologies for Sustainability (ICEETS): 7-8 April 2016. Piscataway, NJ: IEEE, 2016. [Online]. Available: http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/servlet/opac?punumber= 7578986
- [57] S. HU, Y. XIANG, X. ZHANG, J. LIU, R. WANG, and B. HONG, "Reactive power operability of distributed energy resources for voltage stability of distribution networks," *J. Mod. Power Syst. Clean Energy*, vol. 7, no. 4, pp. 851–861, 2019, doi: 10.1007/s40565-018-0484-3.
- [58] D. Almeida, J. Pasupuleti, and J. Ekanayake, "Comparison of Reactive Power Control Techniques for Solar PV Inverters to Mitigate Voltage Rise in Low-Voltage Grids," *Electronics*, vol. 10, no. 13, p. 1569, 2021, doi: 10.3390/electronics10131569.
- [59] T. Wolgast, S. Ferenz, and A. Niebe, "Reactive Power Markets: A Review," *IEEE Access*, vol. 10, pp. 28397–28410, 2022, doi: 10.1109/ACCESS.2022.3141235.
- [60] A. Osterwalder, Y. Pigneur, and T. Clark, *Business model generation: A handbook for visionaries, game changers, and challengers*. Hoboken NJ: Wiley, 2010.
- [61] Sebastian Matthias Braun, "Business Models in Smart Grids: A residential sector focused Energy Service Company," Master's Thesis, Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Department of Industrial Economics and Technology Management, 2014.
- [62] Crosbie, Tracey & Short, Michael & Dawood, Muneeb & Shvadron, Uzi & Ala-Juusela, Mia & Rosqvist, Johanna & Brassier, Pascale & Stahlberg, Maarit & Thibault, Emilie & Gras, Specific Business Models for Demo Cases (D2.2).
- [63] Empresa de Pesquisa Energética EPE, *BALANÇO ENERGÉTICO NACIONAL 2021: BRAZILIAN ENERGY BALANCE 2021.*
- [64] Empresa de Pesquisa Energética EPE, Balanço Energético Nacional: Relatório Síntese 2022 Ano base 2021. [Online]. Available: https://www.epe.gov.br/pt/publicacoes-dadosabertos/publicacoes/balanco-energetico-nacional-2022 (accessed: Mar. 21 2023).
- [65] ONS Operador Nacional do Sistema Elétrico, O Sisteme em Números. [Online]. Available: https://www.ons.org.br/paginas/sobre-o-sin/o-sistema-em-numeros (accessed: Mar. 23 2023).
- [66] ONS Operador Nacional do Sistema Elétrico, Sobre o ONS- O Que é ONS. [Online]. Available: https://www.ons.org.br/paginas/sobre-o-ons/o-que-e-ons (accessed: Mar. 23)

2023).

- [67] ANEEL, Área de Atuação. [Online]. Available: https://app.powerbi.com/view?r= eyJrIjoiNDI4ODJiODctYTUyYS00OTgxLWE4MzktMDczYTlmMDU0ODYxIiwidCI6I jQwZDZmOWI4LWVjYTctNDZhMi05MmQ0LWVhNGU5YzAxNzBlMSIsImMiOjR9 &pageName=ReportSection (accessed: Dec. 10 2022).
- [68] Decreto Nº 2.335, 1997. Accessed: Apr. 12 2023. [Online]. Available: http:// www.planalto.gov.br/ccivil_03/decreto/D2335.htm
- [69] Lei Nº 10.848, 2004. Accessed: Apr. 12 2023. [Online]. Available: http:// www.planalto.gov.br/ccivil 03/ Ato2004-2006/2004/Lei/L10.848.htm
- [70] M. Hochberg and R. Poudineh, "The Brazilian electricity market architecture: An analysis of instruments and misalignments," *Utilities Policy*, vol. 72, p. 101267, 2021, doi: 10.1016/j.jup.2021.101267.
- [71] C. Q. Pica, M. A. I. Martins, T. N. Leites, and N. Rodrigues, "The regulatory challenge of integrating microgrids in the Brazilian context," in 2015 IEEE PES Innovative Smart Grid Technologies Latin America (ISGT LATAM), Montevideo, 2015, pp. 148–153.
- [72] CCEE, Contratos CCEE. [Online]. Available: https://www.ccee.org.br/web/guest/ mercado/contratos (accessed: Apr. 18 2023).
- [73] CCEE, Leilões-CCEE. [Online]. Available: https://www.ccee.org.br/web/guest/mercado/ leilao-mercado#&gid=1&pid=1 (accessed: Feb. 18 2023).
- [74] Decreto Nº 5.163, 2004. Accessed: Mar. 23 2023. [Online]. Available: http://www.planalto.gov.br/ccivil_03/_Ato2004-2006/2004/Decreto/D5163compilado.htm
- [75] Lei Nº 9.074, 1995. Accessed: Jul. 1 2022. [Online]. Available: http:// www.planalto.gov.br/ccivil_03/LEIS/L9074cons.htm#art15
- [76] I. Nacional, Portaria Nº 465, 2019. Accessed: Feb. 23 2023. [Online]. Available: https:// www.in.gov.br/web/dou/-/portaria-n-465-de-12-de-dezembro-de-2019.-233554889
- [77] *Energia de Reserva CCEE*. [Online]. Available: https://www.ccee.org.br/web/guest/ mercado/energia-de-reserva (accessed: Mar. 23 2023).
- [78] ANEEL, Resolução Normativa 482/2012. [Online]. Available: https:// www2.aneel.gov.br/cedoc/ren2015687.html (accessed: Jul. 1 2022).
- [79] Agência Nacional de Energia Elétrica, *Modalidades Tarifárias*. [Online]. Available: https://www.gov.br/aneel/pt-br/assuntos/tarifas/entenda-a-tarifa/modalidades-tarifarias

(accessed: Apr. 12 2023).

- [80] Resolução Normativa Nº 1.000, DE 7 DE DEZEMBRO DE 2021, 2023. Accessed: Apr. 12 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.in.gov.br/en/web/dou/-/resolucao-normativaaneel-n-1.000-de-7-de-dezembro-de-2021-368359651
- [81] Copel Pura Energia, Taxas e Tarifas Copel | Companhia Paranaense de Energia.
 [Online]. Available: https://www.copel.com/site/copel-distribuicao/tarifas-de-energiaeletrica/ (accessed: Apr. 15 2023).
- [82] IEA, Brazil Countries & Regions IEA. [Online]. Available: https://www.iea.org/ countries/brazil (accessed: Mar. 24 2023).
- [83] Lei N° 9.478, 1997. Accessed: Jul. 2 2022. [Online]. Available: https:// www.planalto.gov.br/ccivil_03/LEIS/L9478compilado.htm
- [84] D. F. Botelho, L. W. de Oliveira, B. H. Dias, T. A. Soares, and C. A. Moraes, "Prosumer integration into the Brazilian energy sector: An overview of innovative business models and regulatory challenges," *Energy Policy*, vol. 161, p. 112735, 2022, doi: 10.1016/j.enpol.2021.112735.
- [85] Resolução Normativa Nº 792, 2017. Accessed: Mar. 24 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.in.gov.br/materia/-/asset_publisher/Kujrw0TZC2Mb/content/id/645789/ do1-2017-12-01-resolucao-normativa-n-792-de-28-novembro-de-2017-645785
- [86] Resolução Normativa 956/2021, 2021. Accessed: Mar. 24 2023. [Online]. Available: https://biblioteca.aneel.gov.br/acervo/detalhe/220130
- [87] Resolução Normativa 697/2015, 2015. Accessed: Jul. 1 2022. [Online]. Available: https://biblioteca.aneel.gov.br/acervo/detalhe/168394
- [88] Agência Estadual de Notícias, Projeto de P&D entre Copel, UFPR e Curitiba implanta microrrede de energia no Parque Barigui. [Online]. Available: https:// www.aen.pr.gov.br/Noticia/Projeto-de-PD-entre-Copel-UFPR-e-Curitiba-implantamicrorrede-de-energia-no-Parque-Barigui (accessed: Apr. 5 2023).
- [89] IMAP. [Online]. Available: https://imap.curitiba.pr.gov.br/barigui.html (accessed: Apr. 5 2023).
- [90] *Instituto Nacional de Meteorologia INMET*. [Online]. Available: https://portal.inmet.gov.br/dadoshistoricos (accessed: Apr. 6 2023).
- [91] Eduardo Kazumi Yamakawa, "Sistema de Controle Nebuloso para Bancos de Capacitores Automáticos Aplicados em Alimentadores de Distribuição de Energia

Elétrica," Master's Thesis, Engenharia Elétrica, Universidade Federal do Paraná, Curitiba, 2007.

- [92] V. T. Correia and A. R. Aoki, "Real-Time Energy Management System for Microgrids," *Braz. arch. biol. technol.*, vol. 65, 2022, doi: 10.1590/1678-4324-2022210711.
- [93] T. M. Blasi *et al.*, "Active Distribution Networks with Microgrid and Distributed Energy Resources Optimization Using Hierarchical Model," *Energies*, vol. 15, no. 11, p. 3992, 2022, doi: 10.3390/en15113992.
- [94] Roger Dugan and Davis Montenegro, *Reference Guide: The Open Distribution System Simulator(OpenDSS)*.

Hour	Мог	ıday	Tues	day	Wedne	esday	Thur	sday	Frid	lay	Satur	day.	Sun	day
	kWh	kVArh												
1	-15.629	-6.111	-15.629	-6.111	-15.629	-6.111	-15.629	-6.111	-15.629	-6.111	-15.877	-6.330	-7.283	-6.330
2	-15.434	-5.939	-15.434	-5.939	-15.434	-5.939	-15.434	-5.939	-15.434	-5.939	-15.442	-5.946	-6.847	-5.946
3	-18.043	-8.240	-9.449	-8.240	-9.449	-8.240	-9.449	-8.240	-9.449	-8.240	-10.937	-9.552	-10.937	-9.552
4	-22.964	-12.579	-14.369	-12.579	-14.369	-12.579	-14.369	-12.579	-14.369	-12.579	-15.713	-13.764	-15.713	-13.764
ŝ	-18.526	-16.245	-18.525	-16.244	-18.525	-16.244	-18.525	-16.244	-18.525	-16.244	-17.382	-15.237	-17.382	-15.237
9	-19.399	-17.015	-19.399	-17.016	-19.399	-17.016	-19.399	-17.016	-19.399	-17.016	-16.033	-14.047	-16.033	-14.047
٢	-20.087	-17.622	-20.087	-17.622	-20.087	-17.622	-20.087	-17.622	-20.087	-17.622	-16.117	-14.120	-16.117	-14.120
æ	-23.830	-20.923	-23.830	-20.923	-23.830	-20.923	-23.830	-20.923	-23.830	-20.923	-17.672	-15.492	-17.672	-15.492
6	-20.050	-23.972	-20.050	-23.972	-20.050	-23.972	-20.050	-23.972	-20.050	-23.972	-12.131	-16.076	-12.131	-16.076
10	-19.337	-25.620	-19.337	-25.620	-19.337	-25.620	-19.337	-25.620	-19.337	-25.620	-6.017	-17.212	-6.017	-17.212
11	-16.787	-27.518	-16.787	-27.518	-16.787	-27.518	-16.787	-27.518	-16.787	-27.518	-4.379	-17.465	-4.379	-17.465
12	-11.113	-24.613	-11.113	-24.613	-11.113	-24.613	-11.113	-24.613	-11.113	-24.613	-0.921	-17.484	-0.921	-17.484
13	1.581	-24.970	1.581	-24.970	1.581	-24.970	1.581	-24.970	1.581	-24.970	-2.873	-17.014	-2.873	-17.014
14	-13.758	-25.728	-13.758	-25.728	-13.758	-25.728	-13.758	-25.728	-13.758	-25.728	5.149	-17.303	5.149	-17.303
15	-14.499	-26.871	-14.499	-26.871	-14.499	-26.871	-14.499	-26.871	-14.499	-26.871	-8.216	-16.943	-8.216	-16.943
16	-15.114	-28.041	-15.114	-28.041	-15.114	-28.041	-15.114	-28.041	-15.114	-28.041	-21.120	-18.533	-21.120	-18.533
17	-31.051	-27.291	-31.051	-27.291	-31.051	-27.291	-31.051	-27.291	-31.051	-27.291	-13.046	-18.076	-13.046	-18.076
18	-25.751	-22.617	-25.751	-22.617	-25.751	-22.617	-25.751	-22.617	-25.751	-22.617	-20.200	-17.722	-20.200	-17.722
19	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	-20.161	-17.687	-20.161	-17.687
20	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	-20.734	-18.193	-20.734	-18.193
21	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	-21.242	-18.641	-21.242	-18.641
22	-28.123	-17.129	-28.123	-17.129	-28.123	-17.129	-28.123	-17.129	-28.123	-17.129	-19.912	-17.468	-19.912	-17.468
23	-19.108	-9.179	-19.108	-9.179	-19.108	-9.179	-19.108	-9.179	-19.108	-9.179	-9.793	-8.544	-9.793	-8.544
24	-16.334	-6.732	-16.334	-6.732	-16.334	-6.732	-16.334	-6.732	-16.334	-6.732	-8.587	-7.480	-8.587	-7.480

Appendix A: Simulation Results of Microgrid

Appendix A.1: Without Volt-var control simulation results

II.	Mon	day	Tues	day	Wedn	esday	Thur	sday	Fric	lay	Satur	day	Sun	day
	kWh	kVArh												
-	-15.629	-6.311	-15.629	-6.311	-15.629	-6.311	-15.629	-6.311	-15.629	-6.311	-15.877	-6.530	-7.283	-6.330
2	-15.434	-5.999	-15.434	-5.999	-15.434	-5.999	-15.434	-5.999	-15.434	-5.999	-15.442	-6.006	-6.847	-5.946
3	-18.043	-8.258	-9.449	-8.261	-9.449	-8.261	-9.449	-8.261	-9.449	-8.261	-10.936	-9.567	-10.936	-9.552
4	-22.964	-12.587	-14.369	-12.589	-14.369	-12.589	-14.369	-12.589	-14.369	-12.589	-15.713	-13.769	-15.713	-13.764
ŝ	-18.526	-16.247	-18.526	-16.250	-18.526	-16.250	-18.526	-16.250	-18.526	-16.250	-17.383	-15.239	-17.383	-15.237
9	-19.400	-17.017	-19.400	-17.019	-19.400	-17.019	-19.400	-17.019	-19.400	-17.019	-16.033	-14.047	-16.033	-14.047
7	-20.087	-17.623	-20.087	-17.624	-20.087	-17.624	-20.087	-17.624	-20.087	-17.624	-16.117	-14.121	-16.117	-14.121
×	-23.830	-20.924	-23.830	-20.925	-23.830	-20.925	-23.830	-20.925	-23.830	-20.925	-17.672	-15.492	-17.672	-15.492
6	-20.050	-23.972	-20.050	-23.973	-20.050	-23.973	-20.050	-23.973	-20.050	-23.973	-12.131	-16.076	-12.131	-16.076
10	-19.337	-25.620	-19.337	-25.621	-19.337	-25.621	-19.337	-25.621	-19.337	-25.621	-6.017	-17.212	-6.017	-17.212
11	-16.787	-27.518	-16.787	-27.519	-16.787	-27.519	-16.787	-27.519	-16.787	-27.519	-4.379	-17.465	-4.379	-17.465
12	-11.113	-24.613	-11.113	-24.614	-11.113	-24.614	-11.113	-24.614	-11.113	-24.614	-0.921	-17.484	-0.921	-17.484
13	1.581	-24.970	1.581	-24.970	1.581	-24.970	1.581	-24.970	1.581	-24.970	-2.873	-17.013	-2.873	-17.013
14	-13.758	-25.728	-13.758	-25.728	-13.758	-25.728	-13.758	-25.728	-13.758	-25.728	5.149	-17.303	5.149	-17.303
15	-14.499	-26.871	-14.499	-26.872	-14.499	-26.872	-14.499	-26.872	-14.499	-26.872	-8.216	-16.943	-8.216	-16.943
16	-15.114	-28.042	-15.114	-28.042	-15.114	-28.042	-15.114	-28.042	-15.114	-28.042	-21.121	-18.533	-21.121	-18.533
17	-31.051	-27.291	-31.051	-27.291	-31.051	-27.291	-31.051	-27.291	-31.051	-27.291	-13.045	-18.075	-13.045	-18.075
18	-25.751	-22.617	-25.751	-22.617	-25.751	-22.617	-25.751	-22.617	-25.751	-22.617	-20.200	-17.722	-20.200	-17.722
19	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	-20.161	-17.687	-20.161	-17.687
20	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	-20.733	-18.192	-20.733	-18.192
21	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	-21.242	-18.640	-21.242	-18.640
22	-28.123	-17.129	-28.123	-17.129	-28.123	-17.129	-28.123	-17.129	-28.123	-17.129	-19.912	-17.467	-19.912	-17.467
23	-19.108	-9.179	-19.108	-9.179	-19.108	-9.179	-19.108	-9.179	-19.108	-9.179	-9.793	-8.544	-9.793	-8.544
24	-16.334	-6.732	-16.334	-6.732	-16.334	-6.732	-16.334	-6.732	-16.334	-6.732	-8.587	-7.480	-8.587	-7.480

Appendix A.2: With Volt-var control simulation results

Appendix B: Simulation Results for Sensitivity Analysis(Case: 7xMicrogrid) Appendix B.1: Without Volt-var control simulation results

	Mor	nday	Tues	day	Wedn	esday	Thur	sday	Frid	lay	Satur	day.	Sun	lay
	kWh	kVArh												
1	-109.408	-42.781	-109.408	-42.781	-109.408	-42.781	-109.408	-42.781	-109.408	-42.781	-109.408	-42.781	-49.248	-42.781
2	-108.043	-41.577	-108.043	-41.577	-108.043	-41.577	-108.043	-41.577	-108.043	-41.577	-108.043	-41.577	-47.882	-41.576
3	-126.298	-57.677	-66.139	-57.678	-66.139	-57.678	-66.139	-57.678	-66.139	-57.678	-66.139	-57.678	-66.139	-57.678
4	-159.385	-86.856	-100.584	-88.055	-100.584	-88.055	-100.584	-88.055	-100.584	-88.055	-100.584	-88.055	-100.584	-88.055
5	-127.986	-112.221	-127.574	-111.858	-127.574	-111.858	-127.574	-111.858	-127.574	-111.858	-127.574	-111.858	-127.574	-111.858
9	-132.027	-116.618	-131.451	-116.110	-131.451	-116.110	-131.451	-116.110	-131.451	-116.110	-131.940	-116.073	-131.940	-116.073
٢	-130.427	-119.896	-129.835	-119.373	-129.835	-119.373	-129.835	-119.373	-129.835	-119.373	-128.871	-119.449	-128.871	-119.449
8	-135.224	-138.049	-134.544	-137.450	-134.544	-137.450	-134.544	-137.450	-134.544	-137.450	-121.064	-138.693	-121.064	-138.693
6	-127.248	-155.760	-127.248	-155.760	-127.248	-155.760	-127.248	-155.760	-127.248	-155.760	-133.712	-155.086	-133.712	-155.086
10	-120.677	-165.673	-120.677	-165.673	-120.677	-165.673	-120.677	-165.673	-120.677	-165.673	-96.763	-168.260	-96.763	-168.260
11	-102.989	-178.754	-102.989	-178.754	-102.989	-178.754	-102.989	-178.754	-102.989	-178.754	-96.672	-179.474	-96.672	-179.474
12	-70.593	-165.944	-70.593	-165.944	-70.593	-165.944	-70.593	-165.944	-70.593	-165.944	-57.347	-167.274	-57.347	-167.274
13	23.372	-174.624	23.372	-174.624	23.372	-174.624	23.372	-174.624	23.372	-174.624	-75.123	-167.599	-75.123	-167.599
14	-86.082	-170.850	-86.082	-170.850	-86.082	-170.850	-86.082	-170.850	-86.082	-170.850	-27.261	-176.946	-27.261	-176.946
15	-89.284	-176.762	-89.284	-176.762	-89.284	-176.762	-89.284	-176.762	-89.284	-176.762	-120.677	-173.228	-120.677	-173.228
16	-91.549	-182.810	-91.549	-182.810	-91.549	-182.810	-91.549	-182.810	-91.549	-182.810	-164.774	-174.064	-164.774	-174.064
17	-159.952	-170.709	-159.952	-170.709	-159.952	-170.709	-159.952	-170.709	-159.952	-170.709	-145.113	-172.494	-145.113	-172.494
18	-161.702	-145.786	-161.702	-145.786	-161.702	-145.786	-161.702	-145.786	-161.702	-145.786	-163.964	-145.554	-163.964	-145.554
19	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	-63.814	-57.175	-63.814	-57.175
20	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	-66.256	-57.782	-66.256	-57.782
21	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	-59.643	-51.950	-59.643	-51.950
22	-188.351	-112.770	-188.351	-112.770	-188.351	-112.770	-188.351	-112.770	-188.351	-112.770	-133.546	-117.126	-133.546	-117.126
23	-133.503	-64.030	-133.503	-64.030	-133.503	-64.030	-133.503	-64.030	-133.503	-64.030	-73.597	-64.255	-73.597	-64.255
24	-114.343	-47.129	-114.343	-47.129	-114.343	-47.129	-114.343	-47.129	-114.343	-47.129	-54.178	-47.128	-54.178	-47.128

	Mon	ıday	Tues	sday	Wedn	esday	Thur	sday	Frid	lay	Satur	day	Sun	lay
Inou	kWh	kVArh												
1	-109.408	-32.044	-109.408	-32.044	-109.408	-32.044	-109.408	-32.044	-109.408	-32.044	-109.408	-31.952	-49.248	-37.992
0	-108.043	-36.209	-108.043	-36.209	-108.043	-36.209	-108.043	-36.209	-108.043	-36.209	-108.043	-35.621	-47.882	-37.745
ŝ	-126.300	-54.456	-66.139	-54.457	-66.139	-54.457	-66.139	-54.457	-66.139	-54.457	-66.139	-53.806	-66.139	-54.613
4	-159.432	-84.644	-100.584	-85.800	-100.584	-85.800	-100.584	-85.800	-100.584	-85.800	-100.584	-85.151	-100.584	-85.603
5	-128.073	-110.945	-127.755	-110.214	-127.755	-110.214	-127.755	-110.214	-127.755	-110.214	-127.822	-109.608	-127.771	-110.070
9	-132.125	-115.759	-131.591	-114.882	-131.591	-114.882	-131.591	-114.882	-131.591	-114.882	-132.145	-114.280	-132.093	-114.737
٢	-130.503	-119.253	-129.957	-118.332	-129.957	-118.332	-129.957	-118.332	-129.957	-118.332	-129.040	-118.019	-128.997	-118.384
8	-135.296	-137.517	-134.661	-136.587	-134.661	-136.587	-134.661	-136.587	-134.661	-136.587	-121.210	-137.575	-121.173	-137.860
6	-128.285	-148.755	-128.761	-145.522	-128.761	-145.522	-128.761	-145.522	-128.761	-145.522	-135.644	-142.174	-135.639	-142.204
10	-121.963	-156.761	-122.268	-154.767	-122.268	-154.767	-122.268	-154.767	-122.268	-154.767	-98.365	-157.316	-98.361	-157.341
11	-104.528	-169.008	-104.703	-167.889	-104.703	-167.889	-104.703	-167.889	-104.703	-167.889	-98.165	-169.891	-98.163	-169.906
12	-72.003	-157.441	-72.072	-157.026	-72.072	-157.026	-72.072	-157.026	-72.072	-157.026	-58.734	-158.926	-58.732	-158.938
13	23.182	-166.472	23.178	-166.605	23.178	-166.605	23.178	-166.605	23.178	-166.605	-76.214	-160.932	-76.213	-160.942
14	-86.942	-164.761	-86.878	-165.194	-86.878	-165.194	-86.878	-165.194	-86.878	-165.194	-27.949	-171.428	-27.949	-171.436
15	-89.942	-172.239	-89.850	-172.841	-89.850	-172.841	-89.850	-172.841	-89.850	-172.841	-121.821	-165.035	-121.820	-165.039
16	-92.131	-179.002	-92.020	-179.703	-92.020	-179.703	-92.020	-179.703	-92.020	-179.703	-170.336	-139.575	-170.336	-139.576
17	-164.715	-140.447	-164.757	-140.185	-164.757	-140.185	-164.757	-140.185	-164.757	-140.185	-148.902	-147.103	-148.902	-147.103
18	-163.511	-133.688	-163.627	-132.918	-163.627	-132.918	-163.627	-132.918	-163.627	-132.918	-166.487	-128.854	-166.487	-128.854
19	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	-63.800	-40.899	-63.800	-40.899
20	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	-66.251	-45.591	-66.251	-45.591
21	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	-59.638	-41.580	-59.638	-41.580
22	-189.663	-102.738	-189.833	-101.432	-189.833	-101.432	-189.833	-101.432	-189.833	-101.432	-134.416	-109.088	-134.416	-109.088
23	-133.674	-55.310	-133.708	-53.562	-133.708	-53.562	-133.708	-53.562	-133.708	-53.562	-73.597	-56.772	-73.597	-56.772
24	-114.317	-40.467	-114.318	-38.602	-114.318	-38.602	-114.318	-38.602	-114.318	-38.602	-54.171	-41.138	-54.171	-41.138

B.2: With Volt-var control simulation results